.

National Library of Canada Bibliothèque 'nationale du Canada

Services des thèses canadiennes

Canadian Theses Service

Ottawa, Canada K1 A 0N4

CANADIAN THESES

THÈSES CANADIENNES,

NOTICE

The quality of this microfiche is heavily/dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Previously copyrighted materials (journal articles, published tests, etc.) are not filmed.

Reproduction in full or in part of this film is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30.

AVIS

La qualité de cette microfiche dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographlées, à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

Les documents qui font déjà l'objet d'un droit d'auteur (articles de revue, examens publiés, etc.) ne sont pas microfilmés.

La reproduction, même partielle, de ce microfilm est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30.

THIS DISSERTATION HAS BEEN MICROFILMED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED

LA THÈSE A ÉTÉ MICROFILMÉE TELLE QUE NOUS L'AVONS REÇUE



THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

THE USE OF ANTHROPOLOGISTS AS EXPERT WITNESSES IN COURT

DONNA LEA HAWLEY

by

A 'THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE

OF MASTER OF ARTS

DEPARTMENT OF ANTHROPOLOGY

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

Spring, 1986

Permission has been granted to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film.

The author (copyright owner) has reserved other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her written permiss/ion. L'autórisation a été accordée à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de microfilmer cette thèse et de prêter du de vendre des exemplaires du film.

L'auteur (titulaire du droit d'auteur) se réserve les autres droits de publication; ni la thèse ni de longs extraits de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation écrite.

ISBN -0-315-30338-7

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR DONNA LEA HAWLEY TITLE OF THESIS THE USE OF ANTHROPOLOGISTS AS EXPERT WITNESSES IN COURT

DEGREE FOR WHICH THESIS WAS PRESENTED MASTER OF ARTS YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED Spring, 1986

Permission is hereby granted to THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA LIBRARY to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

luce. (SIGNED)

PERMANENT ADDRESS;

312, S250 HASTINGS ST BURINABY, BC USB IRI

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, for acceptance, a thesis entitled THE USE OF ANTHROPOLOGISTS AS EXPERT WITNESSES IN COURT submitted by Donna Lea Hawley in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts.

sór \mathcal{O}

Date April 23, 1986

ABSTRACT

This thesis is an examination of the use of social and cultural anthropologists as expert witnesses in Canadian courts. It focuses on the relationship between the disciplines of anthropology and law and how knowledge can be exchanged and utilized.

To do this the law concerning expert witnesses is . explained for anthropologists to give them insight into legal rules. The development of the incorporation of social science evidence into the trial process is also outlined. Two recent cases which used anthropologists are discussed and compared to illustrate the use of anthropological expert evidence. These cases show that even though the evidence may give the court a greater understanding of Indian culture, it may not always provide a legal defence.

Finally the thesis discusses concerns related to the interactions between lawyers and anthropologists such as bias, motivation for appearing, competence and the role each plays in the outcome of a case. Anthropologists are encouraged to learn more about their possible role in the legal system and lawyers are encouraaged to appreciate the contribution potential of anthropological evidence.

iv-

Table of Contents
Chapter . Page
I. INTRODUCTION
II. THE LAW OF EXPERT WITNESSES
A. IntroductionB
B. Opinion Evidence in General
Opinion Evidence
Reasons for Exclusion
C. Expert Evidence
Development of the Exception
Types of Cases
Court Appointed Experts
Qualification of Experts
" Hearsay
Factual Base
Hypothetical Question
Ultimate Issue
Examination of the Expert Witness
Cross Examination of the Expert Witness 36
Number of Expert Witnesses
Admissibility of Expert Evidence
Weight Given to Expert Evidence
D. Conclusion
III. HISTORY OF THE USE OF SOCIAL SCIENCE EVIDENCE 52
A. Introduction
B. Early History
C. Development in the United States
D. Development in Canada

•		
en e		
1	E. Conclusion	
· IV.	EXAMINATION OF SELECTED CASES	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	A. Introduction	
	B. The "Tenale and Dick" Case	•
	The Facts	
1 *	The Legal Issues	A. S.
	Use of Indian Witnesses	
	Use of Anthropologist as Expert Witness	
· · · ·	Judicial Comments on the Use of Expert	
	Evidence	
	Disposition by the Courts	
· · · ·	C. The "Jack and Charlie" Case ⁴	•
	The Facts	
	The Legal Issues	
²⁴⁶ (2) (1) <i>T</i> = − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − −	Use of Indian Witnesses	•
•	Use of Anthropological Expert Witness	. a
	Judicial Comments on the Use of Expert Evidence	
	Disposition by the Courts	Ŷ
•	D. Comparison of the Use of the Experts	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ANTHROPOLOGY AND EXPERT EVIDENCE	
	A. Introduction	
	B. Interaction between the professions	
	C. Anthropologists	
1	D. Anthropological Interpretaion	
-	E. The Role of the Discipline of Anthropology 132	
an an an Adria. An an Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Ann	F. Conclusion	х -
VI.	CONCLUSION	
•	vi	
		*

VII. BIBLIOGRAPHY

•

•

A ----

ii

to a second s

I. INTRODUCTION

The use of anthropologists as expert witnesses in Canadian courts is a relatively new phenomenum. Reported cases are infrequently found, and within those the discussion of the role of anthropological witnesses is often by way of a kind mention in the recitation of the facts of the case. As yet, Canada has not had a decisive line of cases. decided on social science evidence that changed the flow of judicial precident, such as the school segregation cases in the United States. The time, however, is ripe for change, within the legal system.

1

There are currently in Canada two government sponsored trends that, as they develop, should create a necessity for an increased application of anthropological expertise not only within the judicial system, but in every aspect of life. The nationally created and sponsored multiculturalism concept as a Canadian way of life demands that all understand and appreciate the varied cultural backgrounds of our fellow citizens. We are now confirming that separate cultural, social and linguistic communities exist side by side, as a positive realization. All people, regardless of their order of arrival here, are being encouraged to maintain their cultural traditions with pride. The second trend is the government acceptance of and recognition of

'In a recent survey of Canadian anthropologists, which included physical as well as cultural anthropologists, of the 323 questioned, replies indicated that only 12 anthropologists had acted at some time as an expert witness in 14 cases. Rene Gadaz, personal communication, July, 1984. native culture which has recently joined with the native Indian, Inuit and Metig demand for cultural and linguistic recognition.

These two government sponsored, as well as community supported, tendencies affect most areas of life for all concerned. While education, language, religion, festivals and holidays, life styles, family structure, and choice of material acquisition are all important aspects of life, this study is only concerned with the way cultural differencesare presented to the Canadian legal system. Within the numerous groups defined within the multicultural concept of the nation, several social science issues are readily apparent. These include: the lack of understanding of our legal concepts and language by litigants, or witnesses in court proceedings; conflicts that arise with interpretation of international contracts; and the resolution of divorce or custody disputes of parties who married in a foreign country with legal concepts different from those existing here. In addition to these types of issues changes are rapidly occuring within our own society that demand a social science explanation, such as changing religious beliefs conflicting with Sunday observance laws, demands for gay rights, and varying opinions on obscenity, pornography and gambling.

Native legal issues are more visible. The question as to who are Indians is clearly legal, but must be based on historic and social criteria. Land claims again is a mixed issue. All of these concerns are in regards to a community of native persons. Individuals, as members of a native community, have cultural concerns when they are charged with committing an act which is unlawful pursuant to the Canadian law, but is permissible under the cultural norms of the community. It is this area which proves to be one of the most difficult to resolve in terms of a cultural explanation and which will be considered in this thesis.

The legal system has many aspects. There are the law making bodies including Parliament, provincial legislatures and municipal authorities which create statutory law; the court systems which interpret and apply the law; and the police and Attorney General offices who enforce it. In addition there are many collateral institutions which add to and support the legal system by providing information or suggestions for reform and by adjudicating matters within their statutory competence. Such bodies include Royal Commissions, Law Research and Reform dommissions; and various boards of inquiry set up on a permanent basis such as for labour arbitratrion or those set up for a special concern such as the Mackenzie Valley Pipeline Inquiry.

Anthropologists, and other experts from nearly every field of study, have appeared as witnesses, and given reports to all of these branches of the legal system from time to time. This thesis is concerned with expert "witnesses" in the exact legal sense of that term. That is, it will examine only those instances where witnesses give their testimony pursuant to the rules of evidence. Because

of this, only those cases that have been heard. competent jurisdiction in Canada will be examined. I will not consider testimony given at Boards of Inquiry, to Royal Commissions or to any other institution which does not strictly apply the rules of evidence, This restriction has been chosen so that all the instances examined will have been conducted under the same rules, and so a tlearer picture of the use of experts can be arrived at for the particular set of circumstances of trial court testimony. Trials hear evidence on a once for all time basis. The evidence is given for a particular fact situation and cause of action, and applies specifically only to that ease. There is generally no procedure which allows further comment on the evidence after the trial. The trier of fact at the trial determines the facts and what evidence constitutes the facts. Appeals from a trial may be made only on issues of law, not issues of fact, so once the trial court determines what evidence it accepts as fact, this decision cannot be overturned. No further expert or other evidence may be added to clarify or overrule the evidence at a trien.

Information finding bodies such as Royal Commissions or Boards of Inquiry, on the other hand, are more in the nature of ongoing concerns and may call further expert witnesses to clarify concerns, add new information, or dispute evidence previously given. They may also reopen their hearings, or write reports subsequent to their "final" report. This allows these bodies the flexability to seek academic

examination and debate on the evidence before them. Courts' cannot. They receive expert, as all, evidence as "the truth and nothing but the truth" and beyond cross-examination and the opposing side's case, the evidence is not subject to debate, enlargement or further explanation. It is this strict inquiry of anthropological knowledge on which this thesis will focus.

In the examination of the relationship between the court situation and the social science expert witness, this study will focus on the relationship itself and not the subject matter of the individual cases. This work will concentrate on the legal mechanism which permits. anthropologists to give expert evidence and how anthropologists can and do respond to this.

Although the topic of this thesis is the role of anthropologists as expert witnesses, much information and discussion will be on social scientists rather than just anthropologists. Social scientists, for this purpose, include social and cultural anthropologists, sociologists and non-clinician psychologists. Psychiatrists have been excluded because they are more properly classified within the discipline of medicine, and because the focus of their work is the individual not the group. Throughout this thesis the terms social science or scientist should be read as being analogus to the term cultural or social anthropology or anthropologist, where the term anthropology or anthropologist is used it is intended to apply specifically to that discipline.

This thesis will discuss the topic in four main chapters. The first, Chapter 2, will give a detailed explanation of the law of evidence in Canada as it relates to expert witnesses. It will start with a comment on opinion evidence in general, then will examine the rules that have been developed both by legislation, and by practice as expressed in the common law. It will address what restrictions are placed on the types of statements that can be made by an expert as well as how the courts and counsel use the experts to get the information they require.

Chapter 3 will briefly outline a history of the use of anthropologists and other social scientists as expert witnesses. It will give an overview of the American usage through the school segregation cases to the land claims cases of today. It will then present a description of the Canadian cases that, have employed this type of evidence to show the development of the practice in Canada, and to outline what this evidence has done and can do for the legal system and application of law.

Chapter 4 will present a detailed examination of two recent Canadian cases that used anthropologists as expert witnesses. It is included to demonstrate how an anthropologist may be used in an actual case, the types of information that can be offered by the expert, and to show how cases are actually conducted. Chapter 5 will discuss, from the perspective of the discipline of Anthropology, what this usage has done and may do to anthropologists and anthropological research. Concern has been expressed in the United States that harm may come to the discipline if opposing camps of advocates are formed. This chapter will examine the literature on this concern and include discussion on these issues.

II. THE LAW OF EXPERT WITNESSES

A. Introduction

This chapter will outline the law of expert evidence or opinion evidence as it is often called. As will be redily seen, this area of the law of evidence has been developed primarily from criminal law cases and in telation to scientific witnesses. The one area within social science which has been comprehensively developed is in reference to psychiatric and psychological evidence. Even this, however, has been treated as "scientific" evidence, since it generally results from the evidence of medical practitioners, who are specialists within psychiatry. The rules of law that have been developed in regards to the admission of opinion evidence by experts are generally geared towards the criminal burden of proof, and opinion by hypothetical question based on assumed hard facts. The application of some of these evidential rules may, in some instances, require modification or development for the social science expert.

B. Opinion Evidence in General

Opinion Evidence

In order for a court to apply the law to resolve a legal issue or conflict, it must first determine what happened in the events that gave rise to the litigation. In other words, it must make a finding of fact. This is, accomplished by the consideration of admissible and relevant evidence given by the various witnesses who are parties to the litigation or who have some personal knowledge of the events in dispute.² The witnesses are required by the rules of evidence to state only that information which is within their personal knowledge. That is, a witness may state information perceived by his ³ senses of sight, hearing,⁴ smell, touch or taste. A witness may not make assumptions or opinions about facts that he perceived:

. . . a witness today-would be permitted to state that the man he observed at the scene of the shooting was approximately six feet in height. This would be an opinion based on actual knowledge (a perceived fact) and an opinion given based on his observation of hundreds of people of varying height, and in this instance perhaps estimated in relation to other people present or to the height of a door. This same witness (assuming he saw no more than the man holding a gun) would not be permitted to give testimony that in his opinion this man fired the shot (Maloney and Tomlinson 1972: 220).

It is often difficult to accurately distinguish between what ³For a description of the general law of evidence see Sopinka and Lederman (1974), or McWilliams (1974). ³The term he will be used throughout this thesis for simplicity with the intention, as that in the Interpretation Act, that he also means she. ⁴Note that the hearsay rule prohibits the admission of a statement told by a third person to the witness, since the witness cannot swear to the truth of that statement. are observations and statements that are opinions based on observations as such differentation is often only one of degree. This difficulty of expressing only perceived facts has been recognized and the courts are willing to accept 1 opinion in some instances. Mr. Justice Robertson, in R. v. German, expressed the law as follows (1947: 98-99):

No doubt, the general rule is that it is only ' persons who are qualified by some special skill, training or experience who can be asked their opinion upon a matter in issue. The rule is not, however, an absolute one. There are a number of matters in respect of which a person of ordinary intelligence may be permitted to give evidence of his opinion upon a matter of which he has personal knowledge. Such matters as the indentity of individuals, the apparent age of a person, the speed of a vehicle are among the matters upon which witnesses have been allowed to express an opinion, notwithstanding that they have no special qualifications, other than the fact that they have personal knowledge of the subject-matter, to enable them to form an opinion. Doubtless there are many, other matters of common experience in respect of which persons with no special qualifications are permitted to state what is really a matter of opinion . . . In many of these cases the question is framed as a question of fact, and not a question of

opinion. I am sure there have been many cases where a witness has been asked whether a person was sober or not, and has been allowed to state what is after all, a matter of opinion, but the answer is given as

if nothing but a mere question of fact was involved. There is therefore, a limited acceptance of opinion evidence by lay witnesses when it is based on personal knowledge of the facts in issue.

Reasons for Exclusion

The opinions of witnesses are excluded from evidence for a number of reasons, five of which are set out by Sopinka and Lederman as follows (1974: 297-298):

(1) Witnesses should be limited to testifying about facts actually perceived by them, and that any inferences which flow therefrom should be left to the province of the gribunal of fact;
(2) If the matter in issue is non-technical, the tribunal of fact can just as readily as the witness draw the appropriate inferences from the facts and thus the witness' opinion is irrelevant;
(3) If a witness is permitted to give his opinion on

a matter which the jury is capable of determining for itself without assistance, there is the danger that numerous witnesses will be called to give their opinion resulting in a waste of the court's time and the confusion of issues; (4) There is the concern that a jury may too readily accept the opinion of influential witnesses without exercising their own independent judgment;

(5) The admissibility of opinion would permit a witness to testify without any fear of prosecution for perjury.

A sixth reason was given by McDonald (1978) that injustice could result from the acceptance of an incorrect inference or opinion by a lay witness. The Supreme Court of Canada summed up the reasons for exclusion and inclusion, of opinion evidence as follows (R. v. Fisher 1961: 19):

It is trite to say that a witness may not give his opinion upon matters calling for special skill or knowledge unless he is an expert in such matters nor will an expert witness be allowed to give his opinion upon matters not within his particular field. Finally, opinion evidence may not be given upon a subject-matter within what may be described as the common stock of knowledge. Subject to these rules, the basic reasoning which runs through the authorities here and in England, seems to be that expert opinion evidence will be admitted where it will be helpful to the jury in their deliberations and it will be excluded only where the jury can as easilly draw the necessary inferences without it. When the latter is the situation, the intended opinion evidence is superfluous and its admission

would only involve an unnecessary addition to the testimony placed before the jury.

Opinion evidence by lay witnesses, thus, is restricted to areas within their personal experience and knowledge. Special rules permit the admission of opinions by experts and this will be the focus of the remainder of this chapter.

C. Expert Evidence

Ser De

"The object of expert evidence is to explain the effect of facts of which otherwise no coherent rendering can be given" (Village of Kelliher v. Smith 1931: 684). The duty of an expert witness has been held to be to provide the court with scientific criteria necessary for testing the accuracy of the expert's conclusions; so the court can form its own independent judgment by applying the criteria to the facts (McCalla 1981-82). The exception to the rule excluding opinion evidence is justified on the grounds "that the expert is, by reason of his particular skill and training, able to draw inferences which the tribunal could not draw" (Stenning 1969: 187). In deciding whether evidence is to be included as expert evidence, a test was set out in R. v. De Tonnancourt (1955: 28) as:

In determining whether testimony falls within the section, the court must look not only to the witness himself, to consider whether he is a professional or other expert, but even more to the character of his evidence, to decide whether it is in the category of

opinion evidence.

Development of the Exception

Courts were established as early as 1072 when justices were sent out from the King's Council. Henry I (1100-1135) had courts mainly to try criminal matters; while uder Henry II (1154-1189) England was organized into circuits with a regular attendance by judges. Early forms of widered included ordeal, compurgation, witnesses and battle. These all became obsolete in favour of trial by jury. Juries may have been introduced by William I (1066-1087), but Henry II (1154-1189) is credited with the development of the English jury system (Kiralfy 1958).

In early times, jurymen were appointed because of special knowledge they held about the case being tried and thus used by the court to make a finding of fact (Gormley 1955; Kiralfy 1958). The usefulness of specialists from scientific fields was recognized as early as 1554 when a court stated (Buckley v. Thomas 1554: 192):

I grant that if matters arise in our law which concern other sciences or faculties, we commonly apply for the aid of that science or faculty which it concerns, which is an honourable and commendable thing in our law.

In 1782 a court permitted the opinion evidence of a scientific expert who had no personal knowledge of the facts of the case (Folkes v. Chadd 1782).

Since these early developments, common law, statute and rules of court have all defined and refined the law relating to expert or opinion evidence.

Types of Cases

The field of medicine provides most of the experts called in court proceedings. Various medical doctors such as orthopedic surgeons, neurologists and other specialists are required in civil cases involving the assessment of damages for personal injury claims; pathologists are required in civil or criminal cases concerning death; and psychiatrists are employed in criminal cases involving issues of insanity, capacity or abnormal behavior. McWilliams (1974) identifies legal issues that have been assisted by the evidence of experts to include: the identification of authorship or literary style, handwriting, cause of death, sanity and possession of intent, artistic and literary qualities of a publication on issue of obscenity, ballistics, breathalyzer, community standards as to obscenity, fingerprints, palm prints, foreign law, infrared photography and spectography, intoxication, and public opinion polls.

Other sciences include the use of explosives (Brownlee v. Hand Fireworks 1931), family planning (R. v. Morgantaler 1973), gross indecency (R. v. Lupien 1969), land values (City of St. John v. Irving 1966), automatism (Bleta v. R. 1964), sexual psychopathy (R. v. Neil 1957), patent cases (Scragg v. Leesona 1946), expropriation cases (Lacroix v.

NCC 1979) navigation and seamanship cases (MacMillan v. Pan Ocean 1981) and zoning cases (Spruceside v. City 1975). Other cases involving social science evidence include hunting as a part of Indian culture (R. v. Dick 1982), Indian religion (R. v. Jack 1982), traditional occupation of Indian lands (Baker Lake v. Minister 1980), and aboriginal land claims (Calder v. AGBC 1973).

There appears to be a growing use of experts from the "soft" sciences, in litigation concerning personal liberties and lifestyles which are maintained to be adversely interfered with by the application of the law. The rules governing the use of expert opinion evidence have developed in reference to experts in the "hard" sciences, but as will be seen, this has not as yet had any adverse affect on the introduction of social science expertise.

Court Appointed Experts

The court may appoint an expert to assist it with technical or scientific evidence. Such appointments must be made under the appropriate legislation or rules. Courts in Alberta (Alberta Rules), Ontario (Ontario Rules), Manitoba (Manitoba Rules), and Nova Scotia (Nova Scotia Rules) may appoint experts to assist them. The Ontario Rules provide that:

267 (1) The court may obtain the assistance of Such an expert may assist the judge during the trial and, as in othere provinces, prepare a written report and be subject to cross examination on his report either before or during the trial. The appointment of a court expert does not prevent the parties from calling their own experts at trial.

McDonald (1978) suggests that this practice has not been welcomed by the legal profession. There is, he suggests, a possibility that a judge sitting alone may give undue weight to the opinion of the expert that he has chosen. Likewise, it is a possibility that a jury may also favour the opinion of the expert chosen by the judge. It is also remotely possible that reliance on court appointed witnesses could lead to a reduction of the role of the lawyer as advocate and fundamentally change the philosophical concept of the trial.

Since a judge has, in many courts, the opportunity of appointing his own expert, it appears that the judge should not take into consideration facts or opinions not presented in evidence at trial, and not within the scope of, information of which the court can take judicial notice. In R. v. Haines (1980) the trial judge did this, by relying on literature not presented at trial. On appeal, Perry Co. Ct. J. stated (R. v. Haines 1980: 426):

In reaching his conclusion as to aboriginal rights the learned judge relied on his own private researches, including, I may say, an unpublished Ph.D. thesis written at the University of Washington in 1953. There was no evidence as to the expertise

or quality of scholarship of the writer of that doctoral dissertation. He relied on various other texts from which he drew a series of conclusions as to historical facts. None of these works was entered as an exhibit. They were not put to any witness, nor revealed to counsel. No expert witnesses were called. However extensive the doctrine of Judicial notice may be, in my opinion it was error in law for the judge to consider these publications. . . it is clearly contrary to the rules of natural justice for a a judge to rely on information obtained after the hearing was completed without disclosing it to the parties and giving them an opportunity to meet it. In Baker Lake v. Minister, the Federal Court judge applied personal impressions he gained from a visit to the community to his judgement. He stated (1980: 210):

Some of the observations above concerning the physical features, institutions and facilities of the community will not be found in the transcript of the evidence. They are among the gleanings of personal observation and inquiry during the week the court spent in the community hearing the evidence of the Inuit witnesses. They are background information of a class known to the courts about communities in southern Canada, not immediately relevant to the issues but helpful to an understanding of them.

Here it appears that the judge was attempting to merely gain

a "feeling for" the way of life in a way similar to that which he, and other judges, have for the communities in which they live. It is questionable, however, whether most judges are really a part of or understand the life style of most litigants they face, and whether there was any bias or selective limitation in the community experience possible in / a short visit. This issue was not addressed in this judgement, since it was not appealed.

The court, in most juristictions, may appoint its own expert when it deems it necessary, to assist in the explanation of scientific evidence. Such an expert does not replace those called by the parties, but adds an extra, supposedly unbiased, opinion. While it may be useful and necessary in some instances that such a witness be appointed when the parties do not call experts, when only one side has an expert or when the opposing experts are in total disagreement in their opinions, it would be extremely difficult for a judge to decide in advance when to call an expert for the court. While lack of the use of court appointed experts may occasionally result in poor judgments, overuse could have more serious effects to the legal process resulting from the court usurpting the function of the advocates.

Qualification of Experts

Before a court will receive the opinion of an expert witness, it must determine that the witness is indeed an expert in regards to the subject matter of the opinion. In the absence of the consent of the opposing counsel, the solicitor calling the expert witness must lead evidence which shows that the expert is properly qualified to give opinion evidence. This may be done in a goir dire' or as a part of the trial. Usually the curriculum vitae of the witness is entered as an exhibit. The witness is usually led through questions concerning his education and practical working experience in regards to the subject matter in issue. The opposing counsel may cross examine on the issue of qualification of the witness and should do so be re any evidence is given, since if this preliminary objection as to qualification is not made, any subsequent cross examination goes merely to weight and not to admissibility (McCalla 1981-82). It is up to the judge to make a finding which qualifies the witness as an expert (R. v. Marks 1952). •

An early case gave what may possibly be the first definition of who may be qualified as an expert (R. v. Silverlock 1894: 771):

The question is, is he peritus? Is he skilled? Has he an adequate knowledge? Looking at the matter practically, if a witness is not skilled the judge will tell the jury to disregard his evidence.

⁵A "voir dire" is a "trial within a trial" in which evidence is given in regards to a matter concerning the admissibility of certain evidence or the suitability of a particular witness to give specific evidence. ⁶Note that this function appears to be statutorily removed in B.C. where the Evidence Act, s. 10(4) states: The assertion of qualifications as an expert in a written statement is proof of the qualification. An expert witness must clearly be skilled in the particular area at bar. In R. v. Bunniss, a case which introduced a police officer as a breathalizer expert, the court held that skill is the most important aspect (1964: 264):

. . . it is clear that so long as a witness satisfies the Court that he is skilled, the way in which he acquired his skill is immaterial. The test of expertness, so far as the law of evidence is concerned, is skill, and skill alone, in the field in which it is sought to have the witness's opinion to be received, then his opinion is admissible. The court went on to say that a university degree from a professional faculty was not essential to this acquissition of skill.' The lack of a degree, however, would go to the question of weight of the evidence.

In R. v. Morgantaler (1973) the court held that an expert may be qualified as such, when the qualification has been obtained either by study or by practical experience. In this case a doctor who had not practiced medicine for ten years, had no further university studies or teaching and had not published in the field of her evidence, was qualified as an expert since she was a qualified doctor, had practiced and was entitled to practice, and was active in the area of family planning, read current literature and lectured at a college.

'This may be a means of introducing more native witnesses as experts on Indian culture and life ways.

The importance of practical experience in addition to education is best illustrated by the case of Brownlee v. Hand Fireworks where the expert was declared by the court as not qualified. The witness was a university professor in appli detechanics and structural engineering and who had lectured the Canadian Officers Training Corps on the use of high explosives, who was asked to give evidence in regards to fireworks. The court held (1931: 133):

A persual of his evidence does not disclose that he has ever had any experience in respect of either the manufacture or the setting off of fireworks displays. In respect of the latter his experience, if one may judge from his testimony, is rather less than more than any one of the majority of the younger generation who have had the handling of firecrackers; sky-rockets, etc. Strictly speaking, he was not properly qualified to give expert testimony upon the question which was involved here, namely, the manufacture and use of fireworks. This case would indicate that practical experience must be specific to the issue in question, at least in regards to technical or scientific matters. Such was the case in Baker Lake v. Minister where the court held that a witness formally trained as a geographer who had experience in and with the Artic and Inuit, was not qualified "to form opinions on political, sociological, behavioural, psychological and nutritional matters admissible as expert

evidence in a court of law" (1980: 222). He was, however, qualifed as an expert in geography and was allowed to reach economic conclusions based on that competence.

The qualificaton of a witness is dependent both on education and experience, and the importance of each aspect depends on the type of opinion to be given at the trial. The issue of qualification is important and must be addressed before any evidence is admissible. Any question as to the relative education and experience of opposing experts will go to the weight assessed to their evidence by the judge.

Hearsay

The hearsay rule in evidence "specifies that evidence of a statement made by someone other than the testifying witness is inadmissible if the only purpose of intracing the evidence is to prove the truth of the statement made" (Stenning 1969: 183). It is clear that experts, like any witness, may not give hearsay evidence. However, as Sopinka and Lederman explains, there is a large hearsay element in the evidence of experts (1974: 316):

Although it has been asserted that the expert's opinion must be based upon either personal knowledge or facts presented at trial, it cannot be completely devoid of a hearsay element. Since the expert by definition possesses a special skill or knowledge in a material area superior to that of the court, his expertise is founded to a large extent upon hearsay

data. An expert will base his opinion upon his own experience and upon whatever education he has received. The latter is naturally comprised of the study and readings of works of authorities in the field and information and data culled from numerous sources. Thus, an expert's knowledge is made up of the distilled assertions of others not before the court.

The element of hearsay is particularly obvious in the evidence of psychiatrists who make opinions based on examinations conducted before the trial. In the case of anthropologists many of the opinions they form come from information received from informants during pre-trial preparation or from independent research conducted some time before the trial.

After determining that such opinions are admissible, the question that arises is, should the expert be permitted to state the details of the hearsay facts that he relied on. Since an opinion is only as good as the information which it is based upon, such facts are admissible, not to show their truth, but only to show the basis of the expert's opinion. This rule may be more critical for medical and psychiatric experts who hase a great deal of their opinion on the statements given by their patients than for social scientists who often make observations of the actions and interactions of the groups they observe and may use statements only as supporting facts.

Factual Mase

There is a concern that an accused may be prejudiced when an expert's opinion is accepted without proof of the facts used as the basis of the opinion (McDonald 1978: 330-331):

Facts may be placed before the trier of fact which are not proved by admissible evidence but which are disclosed by the expert as a basis for his opinion. . . Many such facts will, of course, be inconsequential in relation to the ultimate issue. However, if the fact disclosed is one which is directly relevant to an issue, its disclosure, without proof by admissible evidence, may be highly prejudicial to the opposite party.

The expert is usually asked to state the facts upon which he basis his opinion. They may be obtained by reading literature in the field of study of the expert, by personal knowledge of the matter (such as an examination of a deceased person, scene of an accident, or the accused), or by being present in the court throughout the trial to hear the evidence of the facts in issue.

It is often impractical or impossible to prove all the facts upon which an expert's opinion is based. In a case involving the opinion of a land appraiser, the court realized that it was not possible to prove all the facts upon which the opinion was based, and stated (St. John v. Irving 1966: 414-415): To characterize the opinion evidence of a qualified appraiser as inadmissible because it is based on something that he has been told is, in my opinion, to treat the matter as if the direct facts of each of the comparable transactions which he has investigated were at issue whereas what is in truth at issue is the value of his opinion.

The nature of the source upon which such an opinion is based cannot, in my view, have any effect on the admissibility of the opinion itself. Any frailties which may be alleged concerning the information upon which the opinion was founded are in my view only relevant in assessing the weight to be attached to that opinion . . .

The judge or jury' should decide if the factual basis of the opinion has been proved and then decide on the weight to be given to the opinion (McWilliams 1974). This assumes that the judge or jury are well enough informed to make such an assessment of the opinion. Uncontradicted expert opinion may induce the acceptance of the opinion since the opposing side did not contest it, but the judge or jury is not bound to accept it, especially if its factual base has not been proved.

*Cases may be tried by a judge alone who would make decisions of fact and law; or by a judge and jury in which case the jury decides the facts and the judge applies the law to those facts.

Hypothetical 'Question

**

When an expert has heard uncontradicted evidence in the courtroom he may be asked his opinion directly; where, however, the expert lacks personal knowledge of the issues in question or the facts are in dispute, the expert may only be asked his opinion by means of a hypothetical question (Sopinka and Lederman 1974). The Supreme Court of Canada stated this as' follows (Bleta v. R. 1964: 141):

. . . it is because the opinion of an expert witness on such a question [of fact] can serve only to confuse the issue unless the proven facts upon which it is based have been clearly indicated to the jury that the practice has grown up of requiring counsel. when seeking such an opinion, to state those facts in the form of a hypothetical question. In cases where the expert has been present throughout the trial and there is conflict between the witnesses, it is obviously unsatisfactory to ask him to express an opinion based upon the evidence which he has heard because the answer to such a question involves the expert in having to resolve the conflict in accordance with his own view of the credibility of the witnesses and the jury has no way of knowing upon what evidence he based his opinion. Where, however, there is no conflict in the evidence, the same difficulty does not necessarily arise and different considerations may therefore apply.
The hypothetical question when carefully phrased with all the relevant facts, gives the court a clear understanding of the basis for the opinion and assuming the facts of the hypothetical question are the facts found in the case, makes the opinion a potentially valuable assistance to the court.

Ultimate Issue

There was a general rule that an expert may not give an opinion on the "ultimate issue" which the trier of fact, be it judge or jury, must decide. This rule has been abandoned or rejected recently except that the courts will not permit an opinion on a question of law (McCalla 1981-82; R. v. Graat 1981), and each case will be examined on its own particular circumstances to determine if the rule should be applied (Maloney and Tomlinson 1972). The reason for rejection of opinion evidence on the ultimate issue has been stated by the Supreme Court of Canada in R. v. Fisher as (1961: 19):

In some cases where opinion evidence has been rejected, the ground given is that the giving of the witness's opinion usurped the function of the jury. In other decisions it is said that the evidence tendered constituted an opinion upon the very point or issue which the jury had to decide. An examination of these authorities, however, discloses, in my view, that the jury or the Judge, in cases tried without a jury, would have had no difficulty in arriving at a proper conclusion in the absence of the tendered opinion and that this was the true ground for its rejection.

١

There are thus two reasons given for rejecting the admission of opinion evidence, one that it permits a witness to decide the issue of the case in place of the trier of fact, and the second, that the evidence is not necessary and is superfluous.

While it may be so rejected, opinion will be allowed in other circumstances. If there is no injustice resulting nor a miscarriage of justice opinion evidence on the ultimate issue may be admissible. In a case in which the accused was convicted of driving while intoxicated and dangerous driving, the trial judge allowed lay witnesses to give opinion evidence on the state of intoxication and manner of driving of the accused. In confirming the conviction, Hall, J.A.' stated (R. v. German 1947: 102-103):

After carefully reviewing all of the evidence of the various witnesses, I am of the opinion, with all respect to the trial Judge, that he permitted some questions to be asked which resulted in witnesses expressing opinions on matters which are strictly reserved to the jury. However, on the whole, I am unable to find that there could have been any miscarriage of justice resulting therefrom.

'J.A. after the name of a judge means he is an Appeal Court Justice; J. means Judge of a trial court; C.J. means a Chief Justice. If an opinion which goes to the ultimate issue is relevant to the case of the party putting it forward it may be admissible. In a criminal case the accused wanted his psychiatric witness to give his opinion as to whether or not the accused would engage in a homosexual act, and the evidence was rejected as inadmissible by the judge. The Supreme Court of Canada stated that (R. v. Lupien 1969: 179):

Accordingly it follows that the evidence of psychiatrists is particularly relevant in cases involving homosexuality and the admissibility of opinion evidence from psychiatrists must be determined by its relevancy to the matter in issue at the trial. In the present case the learned trial Judge admitted all the evidence being tendered by Dr. Newman except the opinion he was prepared to give to the effect that Lupien's normal personality and his defence mechanisms would cause him to reject homosexual advances and that he would not knowingly have engaged in them. Dr. Newman was allowed to answer the hypothetical question put to him based on the assumption of the truth of the evidence adduced at the trial but was not permitted to give the opinion above set out based on tests made by and for him and in conversations with Lupien.

It is a question where the line between admissibility and inadmisibility is to be drawn. If

the evidence was relevant to the defence being put forward on behalf of Lupien, and I think it was, then it was admissible and the learned trial Judge erred in rejecting it.

Despite this error the Court upheld the conviction since the remainder of the evidence was so overwhelming and no substantial wrong or miscarriage of justice had occurred.

The cases, thus, state that opinion evidence on the ultimate issue will be inadmissible if it usurpts the function of the trier of fact or is superflous, but may be admitted if it is relevant or if no injustice results therefrom. The Ontario Court of Appeal decided in R. v. Graat that the issue was settled (1980: 157):

In Canada the ultimate issue doctrine may now be regarded as having been virtually abandoned or rejected. Where evidence has been rejected on the basis of the doctrine, such rejection can be explained on other grounds. In some instances the opinion evidence should be rejected because the trier of fact, whether Judge or jury, is just as well qualified as the witness to draw the necessary inference. Accordingly, the non-expert testimony is superfluous, as it is of no appreciable assistance to the Judge or jury. Alternatively, the admission of evidence on the ultimate issue can be justified on the basis that the witness is an expert and the Judge or jury requires his assistance. . . Even if

the expert might be considered as usurping the " jury's function, the court did not think that it was justified in excluding [the expert's] evidence. In the final analysis, even with the benefit of the expert's evidence the jury still has to make the final determination of the issue, so that the expert is not really usurping the jury's function.

Examination of the Expert Witness

The object of the party who introduces the evidence of an expert is to establish the qualifications of the witness as an expert in the exact area in which he will be giving . evidence, and to obtain direct or opinion evidence supporting that side of the case. In the direct examination of an expert use may be made of the hypothetical question as discussed above. Texts and scholarly writings may also be employed. While the hearsay rule precludes them from being introduced as evidence, an expert may refer to such writings, or counsel may read extracts which the expert agrees forms the basis of his opinion. "The written view of the author thereby becomes the opinion of the witness" (Sopinka and Lederman 1974: 326). The use of texts was discussed in an appeal on a murder case involving the defence of insanity in which medical expert evidence was given. Harvey, C.J. stated (R. v. Anderson 1914: 459):

As all evidence is given under the sanction of an oath or its equivalent, it is apparent that

O

text-books or other treatises as such cannot be evidence. The opinion of an eminent author may be, and in many cases is, as a matter of fact, entitled to more weight than that of the sworn witness, but the fact is that, if his opinion is put in in the form of a treatise, there is no opportunity of questioning and ascertaining whether any expression might be subject to any qualification respecting a particular case. A witness would not be qualified as an expert if his opinions were gained wholly from the opinions of others and the faith that is to be given to the opinion of an author of a treatise must come through the faith in the witness and the confidence to be placed in the witness's opinion, in theory, is not to be derived from the confidence in the author with whose opinion he agrees. On principle, therefore, nothing may be given from a text-book, other than as the opinion of a witness who gives it.

Beck, J. in his reasons for judgment on the same appeal stated (1914: 476):

When a medical man or other person professing some science is called as an expert witness, it is his opinion and his opinion only that can be properly put before the jury. Just as in the case of a witness called to prove a fact, it is proper in direct examination to ask him not merely to state

the fact, but also how he came by the knowledge of the fact, so in the case of an expert witness called to give an opinion, he may in direct examination be asked how he came by his opinion. An expert medical witness may, therefore, upon giving his opinion, state in direct examination that he bases his jopinion partly upon his own experience and partly upon the opinions of text-writers who are recognized by the medical profession at large as of authority. I think he may name the text-writers. I think he may add that his opinion and that of the text-writers named accords. Further, I see no good reason why such an expert witness should not be permitted, while in the box, to refer to such text-books as he chooses, in order, by the aid which they will give him, in addition to his other means of forming an opinion, to enable him to express an opinion; and again, that the witness having expressly adopted as his own the opinion of a text-writer, may himself

An expert may, of course, be sked questions concerning any matter of which he has direct knowledge from his own research or observations. Often an expert will be asked by the counsel calling him to be present during the trial to listen to the other witnesses.

read the text as expressing his own opinion.

ç.

In regards to wing the expert to give an opinion based on the evidence he has heard at the trial of the case

problems can arise. In R. v. Neil, a case in which the court was required to determine if the accused, who had been convicted of gross indecency with two teenage boys, should also be convicted as a criminal sexual psychopath, the Supreme Court of Canada stated (1957: 16):

It will be sufficient to state briefly the course of the examination of Dr. Michie by counsel for the Crown. Having proved his professional qualifications, counsel asked him if he had listened to all the evidence both on the trial of the substantive offences and on the hearing under s. 661(1). The witness having answered in the affirmative, he was next asked whether he had listened for the purpose of determining to himself whether the accused was a criminal sexual psychopath. His answer was "Yes". He was then asked if he has "arrived at a decision". His answer was "Yes"; and he was then asked to make his decision known to the Court. . .

The objections to such a method of examination are obvious. The witness is being asked to weigh conflicting evidence; the Court does not know, for example, whether he accepted as true the evidence of Stapley, as to acts of *fellatio* and sodomy, which was denied by the respondent and which counsel for the appellant did not ask this Court to accept. The witness may have disbelieved the testimony of the respondent *in toto*. The witness could not be expected to know the rules as to weighing the evidence of an accomplice or to appreciate the significance of the respondent not having been cross-examined. The Court is unaware of the foundation of assumed facts on which the opinion of the witness was based. The witness is also, in effect, being called upon to interpret the definition contained in s. 659(b), a task the difficulty of which is emphasized by the different submissions as to its meaning made by counsel in the course of the argument before us. 36

This case demonstrates the importance of the use of the hypothetical question in the examination of the expert, and shows that an expert cannot be asked to give opinion on an issue of law.

Cross Examination of the Expert Witness

The purposes of cross-examination are to elicit facts from a witness not entered during examination in chief, to clarify statements made by the witness in his first examination and "to contradict the statements the witness has made by reference to other facts or written statements which he is bound to admit, and so throw discredit upon his memory or veracity generally" (Keeton 1943: 22). A witness under cross-examination may be questioned not only on the facts of the case itself, but upon any matter that effect the credibility of the witness.

Since most expert evidence is given by opinion and not by statements of relevant fact, the most effective way to cross-examine is to attack the credibility of the witness' opinion. One method as suggested in an early advocacy text is to cause the witness to make unreasonable statements. Wrottesley suggested the following as a tactic (1910: 94-95):

The best method of examining witnesses of this character is to take advantage of their enthusiasm in the cause of the party whose side they are to maintain, and guietly and gradually lead them to `an extreme position which can neither be fortified nor successfully defended. They usually take pleasure in imparting their knowledge to others while upon the stand. . . and this fondness for display and love of approbation will often cause them to get into very. deep water: but in order that the advocate may accomplish his purpose he must conceal the object he has in view, and remain master of himself no matter how trying his situation may prove. He must, then, when he has led the witness to make statements which are improbable and unreasonable, ask him to explain his glaring inaccuracies, and if he attempts to equivocate or give evasive answers, sternly hold him to the issues involved. In this way many experts are completely broken down and their testimony is

rendered worthless to the side for which they are called.

38

This is probably not so easily accomplished today with many experts being not only experts in their field of study, but "experts" at being witnesses. Persons being called as an expert for the first time, especially those in the social sciences who may be morally committed to the side that calls them, hopefully will be well coached by counsel before being called to the stand.

A second way to discredit the opinion of the expert is to call into question the facts upon which he based his opinion. If the facts are hearsay this goes to the weight of his evidence (McWilliams 1974). Another tactic that may be used is to put a question to the expert based on slightly different facts and obtain from him a veried form of his opinion. Napley says of this (1974: 119):

Experts for the most part are dealing with matters which can be the subject of differing opinions. If the subject matter of their evidence is something of scientific exactitute, then you are unlikely to get very far with cross-examination in any event. You should therefore endeavour to raise new facets or approaches to the problem which they have to consider, and endeavour to persuade them that if the facts which you are putting to them are accurate then the conclusion which they have reached would have to be modified or changed as a result. A final way to discredit the expert's opinion by reference to the material on which it is based is to present to him an opinion from a text at variance with the one that he has presented to the court from the same book. In R. v. Anderson the court stated (1914: 476-477):

In cross-examination an expert medical witness having first been asked whether a certain text-book is recognized by the medical profession as a standard author and having said that it is, there may be read to him a passage from the book expressing an opinion, for the purpose of testing the value of the witness' opinion. I adopt the words of Tuck, J. (31 NBR 595).

"I think an expert may be examined as to what is in the books, Medical works are produced which are recognized by the profession as standard authorities. An expert witness is being examined, who gives evidence as to specific diseases and their remedies. It is found by reference that his statements are at variance with what is laid down by the best authors on the same subject. Surely, it must be the right of counsel to confront the witness with books written by scientific men, leaders in their profession, for the purpose of shewing either that the witness is mistaken, or that he may explain and reconcile, if he can, the real or apparent difference between what he has said and what is

found in the books. If it was otherwise, men of insufficient learning, or veritable guacks, might palm off their crude opinions as scientific knowledge. There is a marked difference between reading what is in a book as evidence to a jury, and testing a witness when examining him by reading to him from the same book. In the one case, you are reading as evidence what, afterall, is only the opinion of a scholar, however learned he may be, without an opportunity to cross-examine him. In the latter, you are testing the opinion of one expert by the writings of another, admitted to be of high authority. It may be that the author 🛰 views are placed before the jury as effectually in one way as in the other; but, in my opinion, one way is objectionable, the other is not."

By these methods of questioning the basis of the expert's opinion, cross-examination can diminish the impact of the testimony.

Finally, the credibility of the witness may be put into question by showing that he has previously made statements inconsistent with his evidence given at the trial. For non-experts such inconsistent statements are generally oral or in informal writing such as letters. For the expert, however, statements inconsistant with the opinion at trial may exist in his published work. A solicitor who has done his homework, may find earlier conflicting works and call

them to the attention of the witness and thus show him to appear biased or that his present evidence is unreliable. A witness may deny having made a previous inconsistent statement, except when it is written and introduced at trial. The purpose of introducing evidence of an inconsistent statement according to Sopinka and Lederman (1974: 506) "is to impair the witness' credibility and thereby may have the effect of neutralizing the witness' testimony. It only goes to show that the witness is not one who should be believed."

The object of cross-examination is to reduce the weight given to the expert's opinion by lessening his credibility in the eyes of the trier of fact. An alternate opinion is put in by the introduction of evidence in chief of the expert on the opposite side.

Number of Expert Witnesses

The number of experts permitted at a trial is limited by statute, rules, or by the court. This is necessary to avoid unduly lengthy trials consisting of endless complimentary opinions by a multitude of experts. The rules do, however, allow for as many experts as are deemed necessary in the case.

The Canada Evidence Act (1970: s. 7) limits the number of professional or other experts called by any one side in a civil or criminal trial to five, without leave of the

court.' New Brunswick (Evidence Act 1973, s. 23), Ontario (Evidence Act 1980, s. 12), Manitoba (Evidence Act 1970, s. 27) and Alberta (Evidence Act 1980, s. 10) all limit the number of experts any one side may call to three, without leave of the court. Saskatchewan (Evidence Act 1978, s. 48), however, permits five. In Nova Scotia the Rules of Practice (1972, r. 31.06) provide that the court may order that the number of expert witnesses, including medical doctors, to be called at a trial shall be limited. They also provide that if the court appoints an expert, each side may call one expert to give evidence on the issues addressed by the court expert, without leave (r. 23.05). Leave to call more than the limited number of experts may be made at the time when the witness is desired in all jurisdictions except Saskatchewan where the statute requires that leave be applied for before the examination of any of the witnesses who may be examined without leave.

Although the statutes state that three or five experts may be called on either side the question has arisen whether this means for the trial or for each issue on the trial. The Ontario Court of Appeal held in Buttrum v. Udell that the limit was three experts for the whole trial. Ferguson, J.A. gave as the reasons for this (1925: 100):

I cannot find in the words of the statute any ambiguity or anything that allows us_to give to the statute the limited or restricted meaning and effect



given it by the Alberta Court in In re Scamen v. Canadian Northern' Railway Co. (1912), 6 DLR 142, or in this case by the trial Judge; and, with deference, I am of opinion that the remedy proposed, by these Courts is worse than the disease, and that it is much better that the number of such witnesses called during a trial should be limited to three on each side, and such others as the Court may on application allow, than that the number of these witnesses should be limited only by the number of issues of fact that may actually arise in the course of a trial, or that counsel can with some show of reason argue will arise or have arisen during the trial. If the latter interpretation be given the statute, or if the'words "opinion evidence" be given the meaning and effect suggested by my brother Hodgins, a trial Judge could not refuse to hear any such witness, because, before hearing what the witness had to say, he could not satisfactorily determine to just what issue of fact the evidence was applicable, or whether the evidence would amount to "opinion evidence," and thus the statute would, I think, either become a dead letter or a new source of trouble, expense, and delay.

This matter was decided by the Supreme Court of Canada. The Court in Fagnan v. Ure (1958) followed the Alberta decision rejected by the Ontario Court of Appeal. The court held that

`43

since the Evidence Act was re-enacted in its same form in revised statutes after the decision of the court, it should be taken as legislative sanction of the judicial construction of that section. There may be called by any one side, without leave, three expert witnesses on each issue, and not for the whole trial.

If a judge fails to follow the provisions of an Evidence Act, by allowing more than the limited number of experts to testify without leave being granted, it was held to constitute a mistrial, and a new trial was ordered (Rice v. Sockett 1912).

In order to determine whether a witness is an expert as contemplated by a statute he should possess some special knowledge. An example of a test that might be appliled was given in Buttram v. Udell as (1925: 100-101):

I do not think it wise to attempt to define what is "opinion evidence" within the meaning of the statute, for it seems to methe definition should, to some extent, vary with the circumstances of each case. However, I think I should indicate my view, which is that the statute has reference to opinion evidence founded in part or in whole on some special knowledge or qualification not possessed by the ordinary witness. For instance, if the mental capacity of a testator were in issue, and his closest friend or business associate were called and expressed an opinion founded on his acquaintance 4.4

with the testator, I think that the statement of such witness would not be opinion evidence within the statute. On the other hand, if the testator's physician were called and expressed an opinion, founding his statement in part on his knowledge of the testator's habits and acts and also in part on his special knowledge of mental diseases, the statement of such physician would, I think, be opinion evidence within the statute, because his opinion is founded on a special knowledge or

qualification not possessed by the other witness. In R. v. DeTonnancourt the Manitoba Queen's Bench held that (1959: 28): "In determining whether testimony falls within the section, the court must look not only to the witness himself, to consider whether he is a professional or other expert, but even more to the character of his evidence, to decide whether it is in the category of opinion evidence." A constable who had specialized skills was found not to be an expert witness. These skills made his testimony more graphic and had a bearing on its accuracy, but did not give his testimony the character of opinion evidence. Likewise, if a witness has personal knowledge of a practice relating to factual evidence given at trial, and relates a description of that practice it does not make him an expert under these limiting sections (Fagnan v. Ure 1958).

Although there are limitations on the number of experts that may be called in some jurisdictions, leave to increase

that number may be given. It is also possible when the issues involved necissitate social scientists as experts, that witnesses may be called who have personal knowledge of the matters, from their experience as members of a special community, and these will not be counted among the experts, thus allowing a greater amount of evidence to be tendered.

Admissibility of Expert Evidence

As discussed above the opinion evidence of an expert will be admissible if the opert is qualified in the area and if the evidence give as not usurpt the function of the trier of fact and is superfluous. The Supreme Court of Canada, in Village of Kelliher v. Smith, held that two elements must co-exist to make expert testimony admissible. These were: firstly, the subject matter must be beyond the knowledge of ordinary people who could not make a correct judgment without assistance; and secondly, the expert witness must have gained his knowledge by education and practice. The exact form of the education of the witness, whether he is a university graduate or not, goes merely to weight and does not affect the admissibility of his testimony (R. v. Bunniss 1964).

It was held in R. v. Fisher (1961) that in psychiatric opinion evidence, the fact that a doctor did not examine the accused personally, could have no bearing on the admissibility of his opinion evidence regarding the state of mind of the adcused.

Opinion evidence that involves what is a mixed question of law and fact, however, is not admissible (R. v. Fisher 1961).

Once a trial judge has decided the issue of admissibility of opinion evidence by an expert, a court of appeal should not interfere with that decision without good reason. The Supreme Court of Canada stated in Bleta v. R. (1964: 144):

... the decision as to whether a sufficient basis has been laid for the admission of an expert opinion rests in each case in the discretion of the trial Judge, the exercise of which is dependent upon many factors, all of which may not be fully appreciated by a Court of Appeal which is confined to the printed record of the proceedings in its reconstruction of the atmosphere existing at the trial. For this reason, in cases where the evidence is open to the construction that the premises upon which the expert opinion is based were clearly presented to the jury, a Court of Appeal should, in my opinion, be hesitant to interfere with the ruling made by the trial Judge as to the admissibility of that opinion.

A different finding was made by Ritchie, J. in Workmen's Compensation v. Greer when he stated (1973: 602-603):

I appreciate that this conclusion differs from that reached by the trial Judge and two of the three

Judges sitting in the Appeal Division, but no question arises as to the veracity of the witnesses and the judgment of the majority of the Appeal Division is based on inferences drawn from conflicting medical opinion so that this is a case which appears to me to be governed by the language used by Lord Halsbury in Montgomerie & Co., Ltd. v. Wallace-James, [1904] A.C. 73 at p. 75, which was affirmed by the Privy Council in Dominion Trust Co. v. New York Life Ins. Co., [1919] A.C. 254 at pp. 257-8. Lord Halsbury said in part: ". . . where no question arised as to truthfulness, and where the question is as to the proper inferences to be drawn from truthfull evidence, then the original tribunal is in no better position to decide than the judges of the Appellate Court. In my opinion, the practice of this Court, which reflects a reluctance to interfere with concurrent findings of fact in two provincial Courts, does not apply with the same force to inferences drawn from conflicting professional opinions as it does to findings based on direct factual evidence.

An appeal court thus may decide which opinion evidence it will rely on in the absence of any evidentiary reason to reject one in favour of the other.

Weight Given to Expert Evidence

Once evidence is deemed admissible, the trier of fact must decide on what weight to assess it relative to opposing evidence. It is clear that a jury may reject altogether the evidence of an expert and are not in any way bound to accept it (R. v. Fisher 1961; Bleta v. R. 1964). Stenning says of weight (1969: 188):

The weight which a jury will attach to an expert's opinion will, of course, depend upon the degree of relevance he can establish for it, and the extent to which he can convince the jury of its validity. This will involve him in many cases in going into explanations of the information on which his opinion is based, and the manner in which it was formed.oTo the extent to which the expert witness is able to satisfy the jury in these matters, his evidence will be treated as being of greater or

lesser importance.

The weight assessed will be affected by the facts posed for a hypothetical question (R: v. Fisher 1961), the level of qualification and experience of the expert (R. v: Bunniss 1964), and the information upon which the expert based his opinion (City of St. John v. Irving 1966).

D. Conclusion

Clearly most anthropologists would qualify as experts within the legal requirements of the law of evidence. There are many types of cases which could benefit from the information and opinion of social and cultural anthropologists, including those concerning hunting as a way of life, land claims, custody and adoption. In addition to these substantive is the interpologists would be useful as consultants in the preparation of pre-sentence reports for persons from other indigenous or immigrant cultures who were convicted of any criminal offence. The law of sentencing attempts to make the punishment fit the criminal, not the crime, and anthropological insight into community standards, family and social control, and informal behavior regulatory systems within other cultural communities would aid this effort.

While the use of hypothetical questions may be difficult to frame in cases which explore community practice or standards, such as hunting, this technique could be applied to adoption or custody cases concerning one individual with known characteristics.

The basis of the information relied on by anthropologists contains some element of hearsay and the methodology employed may result in challenges as to it being "factual" in nature. The courts have not as yet disputed these features of anthropological evidence, but as more cases are heard these will be two areas that anthropologists

50 ²⁰¹

will have to be prepared to justify.

The rules of evidence as they exist are adequate in allowing anthropological experts to testify at the present time. As more cases involve anthropologists it may be found that some modification is required in respect to the lessening of the requirement for the hypothetical question and a clarification of classes of experts for particular issues or cultural groups. III. HISTORY OF THE USE OF SOCIAL SCIENCE EVIDENCE

A. Introduction

This chapter will outline a brief history of the introduction of social science evidence into the courts. This brief outline will focus on the major events which demonstrate that there has been a constant growth in the useof social scientists within the court system. Social scientists have played an important role, especially in recent years, in the total legal system by providing information to commissions; boards of inquiry, law school courses, government committees and task forces. These areas of law although important to the total system are not within the consideration of this thesis and will not be included in this discussion.

This history of the court acceptance of social science expert testimony will only outline the areas of law and social science and the sequence of the relationship. It will not discuss the sociological ideologies or theories as accepted by and included into the application of law. This is beyond the scope of this thesis which is focusing on the relationship, rather than the particular subject matter of any case or cases. Although much of the law of expert witnesses was developed through the appearance of medical, psychiatric and scientific evidence, this development will also not be emphasised. This area has been discussed elsewhere (Louisell 1955; Malcolm 1979; Posluns 1981;

O'ttoski 1976-77).

While the focus of this thesis is the relationship between the courts and social science experts in Canada, this chapter will include an overview of the early history of experts in British law and the development of the relationship in the United States. This is included to give a broad picture of the development, and because developments in these jurisdictions often effect developments in Canada. The development of the use of social science evidence in Canada will be developed by an examination of the major reported cases.

B. Early History

It is impossible to determine now because of the lack of records if use of experts in early times was an, innovative technique of a creative judge or something that was commonly employed. In early times because population was small it was likely that members of a community were quite familiar with each other and their affairs. Discussions of cases coming up in court among the members of the community would have provided a means for the trier of fact to get "expert" information in an informal way that could be applied at the trial. This of course is merely speculation. Whatever the case was, formal developments started early. Two such developments were the creation of the specialist jury and the introduction of expert witnesses.

The first reported instance of the use of a specialist. jury to assist a court in the determination of a case occurred in England in 1554 when the assistance of scientific information was recognized. In a later case in 1654 a jury of merchants was sumoned to decide a dispute between merchants (Hand 1901). The practice of appointing special juries became an institution of early English law that was given statutory force in 1730 as a right that either party could demand. The special jury later developed into a relationship between law and commerce and is still a part of English law, although not commonly employed (Beuscher 1941).

A second development was the use of court appointed experts who assisted in making decisions on cases concerning special issues such as maritime cases. Such experts were called as early as 1345 in a case where a doctor assisted the court in the determination of the freshness of a wound. In 1492 and again in 1555 the court obtained the assistance of "masters of grammar" for the determination of cases, and in 1620 a doctor was called to give evidence in regards to gestation in a legitimacy case (Hand 1901). The practice continued and expanded into the King's Bench when a maritime expert was called in 1648 (Beuscher 1941). The use of expert witnesses continued and became more important as medical, scientific and technical knowledge grew. It became increasingly important that specialists give information to courts on matters beyond the knowledge of not only the

ordinary person, but beyond otherwise educated people in different fields. The development continued in England to present times.

C. Development in the United States

There has been very important breakthroughs in the use of social scientists as court experts in the United States. The legal application of social science information has changed the course of legal history and affected the lives of all Americans, some in very positive and important ways. These changes have come about in many areas. The most important area was the the school segregaltion cases. Other areas include trade marks, religion in school, pornography and environment. Indian land claims is also an important social area but these are often heard pursuant to specific legislation or by special tribunals (Jones 1955).

The earlist consistant use of social science evidence was in trade mark cases. These cases employed experts who introduced public opinion analysis to show if there was a general confusion between products identified by similar trade marks (Greenberg 1956). Other areas in which social science experts have been used are pornography and environmental studies.

The school segregation cases resulted in the greatest development of social science expert testimony. Clark (1953) described three periods. The first from 1896 to 1930 was dominated by the doctrine of separate but equal education.

During the 1930 to 1945 period, the second phase, the legal battle was to admit Negro students to white educational institutions that had no Negro counterpart such as graduate and professional schools. The final stage was from 1945 to the present and was an attack against segregated education. One of the first cases, according to Clark, was the 1946 case of Sweatt v. University of Texas.

The Sweatt case was the first of these cases in which expert social science testimony was presented and became a part of the argument and the legal record. Robert Redfield, anthropologist of the University of Chicago, testified that: "given a similar learning situtation a negro student tended to react the same as any other student and that there were no racial characteristics which had any bearing whatsoever to the subject of public education." This testimony was relevant to the argument that the segregation of students on the basis of race was an arbitrary and unreasonable classification (Clark 1953: 6).

This new line of approach resulted in an extensive use of social science evidence in these cases (Wisdom 1975; Rosen 1977).

The most famous, and possibly the most important, of the cases was Brown v. Board of Education (1954). The social science evidence, organized by Kenneth B. Clark, "was crucial in supplying evidence that segregation itself meant

inequality" (Wisdom 1975: 138). This case which held that segregation does "have a detrimental effect on colored children" (Rosen 1977: 560) and denoted inferiority of that group created a great controversy between the opposing factions. Wisdom noted that this caused some difficulty in using social science experts (1975: 139):

The road is not smooth for the use of social science evidence in the courts. Testimony of experts for the plaintiffs forces the defendants to come forward with experts. If the trial is prolonged and played up in the communications media, the public impression is that the court is elevating sociology at the expense of law. . .

Segregationists, to a man, criticized the Supreme Courts's holding in *Brown* as one that was based on sociology rather than law, as if the two must be antithetical rather than closely related or complementary.

These cases demonstrated that social science evidence can be extremely useful to courts to correct social wrongs or injustice not adequately covered by the law. Greenberg concluded "if the testimony played any role it was a "legislating" one, in the change from one rule of law to another" (1956: 965).

D. Development in Canada

The use of social science expert witnesses has developed slowly. As seen in Chapter Two the law of expert witnesses has developed mostly by the use of "hard" science medical science and psychology experts. Three areas of use of social science experts have arisen: trade marks, obscenity cases and cases involving issues of Indian culture.

In regards to trade marks expert evidence of a, survey conducted to examine consumer and dealer knowledge of a trade mark was accepted in the case of Aluminum Goods v. Registrar (1953). The court allowed the Canada-wide registration of the trade mark because the survey found "91 per cent of the 3007 housewives and 96.5 per cent of the dealers identfied "Wear-Ever" as a brand" (1953: 83). This survey evidence satisfied the onus required by the applicant.

In regards to cases dealing with obscenity public opinion polls to determine community standards were used as evidence in a number of cases. Experts can be heard on the artistic and literary qualities of publications that are accused of being obscene (R. v. Brodie 1962).

Obscenity charges require that the material be beyond community standards. The evidence of one witness is not enough to define community standards but that of an expert can be. In one of the first major cases on this point, R. v. Great West News, Dickson, J.A. stated (1970: 314-315): . . . the Courts have not found it necessary to call upon expert testimony to describe the standards of the community. Such evidence is, of course, admissible but that is not the same thing as saying it is essential.

. . . I do not find in *Brodie*, or elsewhere in the Commonwealth, any majority opinion that expert evidence of community standards is an essential ingredient to a finding of guilt. If any inference can be drawn from *Brodie* it is that the Judge must, in the final analysis, endeavour to apply what he, in the light of his experience, regards as comtemporary standards of the Canadian community. Ih so doing he must be at pains to avoid having his. decision simply reflect or project his own notions of what is tolerable.

This same court, in the same year, set out a test for the acceptance of expert evidence on public opinion polls.

In R. v. Prairie Schooner (1970), Dickson, J.A. upon finding that there was little reference to public opinion polls in Canadian or English legal reports observed that no general legal rule was developed for their use a change in attitude was noted, however. He stated (1970: 265-266):

Basic to the admissibility of such surveys has been the acceptance of the public opinion polling as a *SCience* when approved statistical methods, social research techniques, and interview procedures are employed.

Essential to admissibility is the requirement that the witness testifying be possessed of expert knowledge. Essential also is selection of the proper "universe", ie., that segment of the population whose characteristics are relevant to the question being studied.

These cases have been followed in other parts of Canada (R. v. Times Square 1971; R. v. Pipelne 1971). The important issue relating to the issue of community standard is that the survey, be scientifically conducted, be undertaken by an expert and relate to Canada as a whole.

There are only a few cases dealing with issues of Indian culture that used anthropologists as experts. One of the first to use an athropologist was the Cälder case (1974) which employed Wilson Duff and an archivist. The decision in the case as to the extinguishment of aboriginal title arose from historical facts and documents rather than from social science considerations.

The Baker Lake case (1980) which held that the land in queston was subject to the aborignal right and title of the Inuit to hunt and fish used the expert evidence of two archaeologists, Elmer Harp and J.V. Wright, one acting on each side of the case. The court said of this (1980: 200):

Their professional qualifications are impeccable. Dr. Wright's evidence was admitted as rebuttal evidence only. He did not cast any doubt on the

validity of Dr. Harp's overview of the Inuit occupation of the North American Artic generally but, rather, dealt with the crucial question of the extent, if any, of Inuit occupation of the Baker Lake area prior to the historic period.

The court quoted extensively from the evidence of the two experts taking as fact their evidence of the history of the Inuit occupation of the area. An anthropologist, Milton J. Freeman, also gave evidence as to the present social organization and land use of the Inuit. This evidence, along with that of physical scientists, assisted the court in making its decision in favour of the Inuit.

Other cases which involved the use of anthropologists are discussed in Chapter Four. There have been very few reported Cases in Canada which used anthropologists as experts, but the precident for their use now exists.

E. Conclusion

The usefullness of social science, and in particular anthropological, expert evidence has been established. While it is a well developed area of law in the United States it has made only a foothold in Canada. The conclusion to Greenberg's paper seems an apt statement for Canada now (1956: 970):

Over fifteen years ago, Robert S. Lynd wrote that "Social science is not a scholarly arcanum, but" an organized part of the culture which exists to

6

 help man in continually understanding and building his culture." A similar statement might be made of law. Fortunately, there is room for two to work in combination.

cr)

IV. EXAMINATION OF SELECTED CASES

A. Introduction

1

There are very few reported cases using anthropologists as expert witnesses in Canada. Two have been selected for discussion in this chapter. These cases were selected primarily because of the accessability of transcripts of the trial. Getting transcripts is difficult since one must first be aware of the case, it must have been appealed, a procedure which requires that transcripts be ordered and paid for, and the counsel involved must be willing to make these available. The two cases examined here were both obtained from counsel who were co-operative in supplying access to transcripts, and willing to have their case examined by an outsider.

In addition to the availability of material, the two cases were chosen because they exhibit certain similarities that make them readily comparable, but also because the legal issues in each was different which resulted in differences in the use of the witnesses. The cases are similar in that at the time of this study they had both been to trial in the Provincial Court of British Columbia, and had been appealled to the County Court and Court of Appeal of British Columbia. Both cases have been set to be heard together at the fall sitting of the Supreme Court of Canada for 1984.'' Both cases involved status Indians who were ''The Supreme Court of Canada gave its decision in late 1985. Although it was held that hunting was a way of life
charged with offences under the British Columbia Wildlife Act. In both cases counsel employed many native witnesses as well as an anthropologist as an expert witness. The cases differed in the following respects: all parties including counsel, accused, anthropologists, and witnesses differed on each case; the culture of the accused was different in each case, one involved Coast Salish and the other Shuswap people; and the defence used was different in each instance. Although the cases were similar in structure, that is the charges prosecuted and courts hearing the case, they differed in their form of presentation.

The strategy used by counsel in each case differed in how they used their expert witnesses. This legal strategy will not be analysed since it is impossible to second guess the reasons for it, and will add little or nothing to the purpose of this chapter which is to look at the contribution of the anthropologists. The anthropologists as witnesses have no control over the lawyer's actions.

This chapter will present each case separately with a discussion of the facts of the case, the legal issues involved, the use of Indian witnesses, judicial comments on the use of expert evidence and the disposition of the case by the courts. Each of these topics will be presented for completeness so the reader will make as full an understanding of the cases as possible. The chapter will conclude with a discussion and comparison of the use of the use of the indians the provincial hunting laws applied to them.

expert witness in each case

B. The "Tenale and Dick" Case

The Facts

On May 4, 1980 Augastine Tenale, Arthur Andrew Dick and three others, all non-treaty Indians and members of bands of the Shuswap Indians of British Columbia, went fishing or food. On the way to Gustafsen Creek, the intended fishing spot, Dick shot and killed a deer, which he intended to use for food for the fishing party and other band members. The deer was killed off a reserve and they were found by the police off a reserve with the meat and other items. Later that day, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, upon finding the men in possession of deer meat, dip nets and a number of rainbow trout, charged the individuals with hunting and fishing out of season.

The specific charges were as follows: Dick was charged with killing wildlife not within the open season, contrary to section 3(1) of the Wildlife Act, and with possession of wildlife that was dead during a closed season contrary to section 8 of the same act. All five men were charged with having taken fish from an inland stream during a closed period contrary to BC Reg 86/80 of the British Columbia Fishery (General) Regulations, made pursuant to the federal Fisheries Act.

The Legal Issues

There are two main legal issues in this case: one concerning hunting rights, and the effect of section 88 of the Indian Act and provincial legislation on hunting rights; the second concerning the power of the provincial government to enact regulations pursuant to the federal Fisheries Act. These formed two separate charges and trials but were heard together since the evidence was the same in each instance. The legal issues will be considered separately here.

The fishing charge involved a question of the validity of the provincial fishing regulations. The question to be answered was, did the federal Fisheries Act authorize a delegation of regulatory powers to the provincial minister. That is ". . the question [was] not whether the Parliament of Canada may so delegate, but whether they did so in fact" (R. v. Tenale 1982:187-188). If it did, a conviction could be maintained under the regulations; if it did not, the regulations would be *ultra vires* and a conviction could not be sustained.'²

The Fisheries Act contained no provision for the delegation of powers to the provinces. Section 34 permitted the Governor in Council to make regulations. In regards to this the court said (R. v. Tenale 1982: 188):

While that section grants authority to the Governor in Council to make Regulations, it goes no further,

'2"Ultra vires" means beyond the powers of the government that enacted the law, and thus the law is a lid and of no force and effect. as to delegation, than to authorize delegation to "persons engaged or employed in the administration or encomement" of the Act. I cannot conclude this to mean, or to have been intended to mean that the Governor in Council may, by Regulations such as the British Columbia Fishery (General) Regulations, authorize the provincial Minister to have total authority and responsibility over all areas described in Regulation, s. 58 and to authorize the provincial Minister to, himself pass such Regulations as he may decide upon .

The County Court, thus, found that the Fisheries Act contained no specific authority to delegate and contained "no suggestion that the whole subject of inland fisheries may be subdelegated to a Province with power and authority to legislate or regulate" (R. v. Tenale 1982:188).

The result of this argument is that if a Province does not have proper constitutional authority to legislate in regards to a specific subject matter, either from section 92 of the Constitution Act, 1867, or from a lawful delegation from the federal government, any legislation purported to deal with the subject matter is *ultra vires* and thus void. It therefore follows that convictions cannot be obtained on charges under such legislation, since the legislation has no force or effect.

The second argument on this issue is in regards to the requirement, under the Statutory Instruments Act, to publish

regulations in the Canada Gazette. That Act states that no person shall be convicted of the contravention of any regulation that was not published in both official languages in the Canada Gazette. This was an absolute bar to sustaining a conviction when the publication reguirements were not met.

()

Ś

The hunting issue carnot be considered by a simple reference to statutory requirements. The right of Indians to hunt arises from many sources. Treaty Indians, being descendants of treaty signers and thus entitled to the inheritable and assignable rights and obligations thereunder, have contractually guaranteed rights to hunt. This first source of hunting rights does not apply to most areas of British Columbia, and in particular does not apply to the Indians in the cases considered in this chapter, since treaties were not signed in most areas of the province

The second source of hunting rights are statutory guarantees (Brown 1981). The first was the Royal Proclamation of 1763. It reserved to the Indians as their hunting grounds all lands not ceded to or purchased by the Crown. Although this reserved hunting rights, most statutory enactments have restricted Indian hunting rights such as the Natural Resources Acts on the prairies, the Migratory Birds Act, The Fisheries Act and section 88 of the Indian Act. These acts have restricted hunting in certain places, at certain times of the year for specific species of birds and fish, and imposed provincial hunting laws on Indians hunting off reserves.

The most restrictive law has been the Indian Act. Section 88 states that:

Subject to the terms of any treaty and any other Act of the Parliament of Ganada, all laws of general application from time to time in force in any province are applicable to and in respect of Indians

in the province . . «

This has been discussed in many cases involving Indians hunting off the reserve. The most important issue in the section is what does "laws of general application" mean? This was discussed by the Supreme Court of Canada in Kruger and Manuel v. The Queen. This case decided that a law of general application was (Brown 1981: 126):

characterized by two *indicia* . . . First, the law must extend uniformly throughout the province. Second, and more crucial, "the intention and effects of the enactment need to be considered." In applying this second test, a law should be held as intending to apply generally so long as it was not in relation to one class of citizen . . . provincial game laws

were not laws that applied to Indians *qua* Indians. This second test means that a provincial law may set affect Indians in any manner related to their "Indianess," or in other words, to their way of life that is different from non-Indians. Since only the federal Parliament has the power to legislate in regards to Indians the provinces may not. A long line of cases from Kruger and Manuel have addressed this point. The cultural features of a person's life that makes him an Indian must not be interfered with by provincial laws. Provincial hunting laws have generally been found to restrict hunting (i.e. apply to conservation of wildlife) and not restrict cultural practices and thus apply to Indians. The statutory recognition of Indian hunting rights have tended to be more restrictions than guarantees.

The third source of hunting rights arises from aboriginal title over land. This has also been a source of confusion since often courts will not address this issue if it is not central to the case at bar (Brown 1981).

Use of Indian Witnesses

This case used thirteen Indian witnesses and two other experts. The first was Crawford Young, the Chief of field services for the Federal Fisheries Department. His evidence was about the method of passing provincial regulations through the federal department, and that the provinces were given the authority to pass their own regulations to speed the process. The other expert was a wildlife biologist who gave evidence on the gathering of statistice concerning wildlife and the setting of hunting limits.

The first Indian witness was Arthur Andrew Dick, one of the accused. He was 27 years old, single and a member of the Alkali Lake Reserve of Shuswap Indians. He had grade 12 education but had learned much from his father and

grandfather, including how to hunt and fish. He described these activities as follows (Tenale Transcript 1981: 253):

Q. . . What is the primary purpose of hunting and fishing as carried on by yourself and the people of your village?

A. It's our way of living, our way of surviving, our way of living the lives we know or know best. Just / to survive off the land, which we believe was there for our purpose.

He gave evidence that the meat obtained by hunting was shared by the others in the village.

The next witness was Ricky Dick, another of the accused, also a member of the Alkali Lake Reserve. Ricky was an 18 year old grade ten student. He told the court that he helped his father with his trap line on weekends and had learned how to hunt and fish from his father and some elders on the reserve. His brief evidence described hunting as a part of his way of life.

Willard Dick, a 49 year old trapper, and the father of the accused Arthur, was the next witness. He gave evidence that he had learned to hunt from his father and had, in turn, taught this to his sons. He emphasised that nothing of the animals killed was wasted, since hunting was an integral part of their way of life, as was sharing the meat obtained. This witness also described his knowledge of the spawning of the fish in the creek in May which made them easy to catch in this the Indian fishing season.

Rose Dick, Arthur's 47 year old mother followed. She explained that she had learned how to dry and smoke meat from her grandparents. She also told the court that most of the meat in her home was obtained by hunting and fishing. When asked if she would trade her way of life for any other, she emphatically replied "no, no way." On cross-examination, she explained that smoked meat could keep all winter.

The fifth witness was not an Indian, but was the Director of the Provincial Fish and Wildlife Branch, Don Robinson. He described the policy for issuing sustinance permits, to needy people in times of stress. He advised the policy did not include the issuance of these permits to Indians for a continuous supply of food.

The fifth Indian witness was Tommy Billy, a 68 year old Indian from Canoe Creek. His brief evidence was that he had never attended school and he worked as a cowboy for most of his life, during which time he also hunted for food. He said food was shared in Indian camps.

Augastine Tenale, one of the accused, a 46 year old Shuswap Indian from Canoe Creek followed. His brief evidence was that he had a grade five education and worked at fencing and ranching. He was married with three children and hunted when his family needed food. He also told the court that he knew the fish spawned in May in the creek which was the subject matter of the case.

This was followed by the very brief evidence of 60 year old Laura Harry of Alkali Lake Reserve. She said her

grandparents had taught her that people must look after each other and that now she was glad that people still shared meat and that she obtained her meat in this way.

The eighth Indian witness was Shirley Robins from Alkali Lake Reserve. She had completed a two year course in the Native Indian Teacher Education Program and one year of linguistics at the University of Victoria, and was currently working doing cultural research part time for the school district. She had written children's stories in Shuswap for distribution to schools about things in life on the reserve. She said she thought it was important to write down their cultural history to pass on to the children in school. She conducted an oral surwey, for the trial, of the 42 hunters on the reserve as to how much meat they took in 1980. She found that they had taken 117 deer, 48 moose and 915 fish.

Patrick Johnson, one of the accused, thirty-nine, of Canoe Creek gave evidence next. He had learned hunting and fishing and gardening from his parents. He worked as a laberour at various jobs, and since he quit drinking, had travelled to various Indian groups to talk about Indian values and way of life. In describing how he felt about the Indians' relationship to the land he said (Tenale Transcripts 1981: 398-399):

We live with everything on [the land], we live in harmony with it. It provides us with our food, such as deer and moose, and fish, It also provides us with our shelter. We've also said, our ancestors, my

Ç≁¢ .

grandfathers, have not written any laws about our hunting and fishing, so the white men write their reserve school.

He stated that he wanted to work on the reserve to help his people and was planning to have cultural items in the corriculum. He advised that he eats wild food.

1

The next witness was John Johnson, 42, of the Alkali Lake Reserve. He told the court that he taught his own children the Shuswap language so that it would not be lost. He said he hunted for food and shares his meat with his parents and grandparents. He told the court that he had had a drinking problem and overcame it at a clinic in Alberta and now lives his life by traditional Indian values. He stated that he "lives for today" not the past or future. He huntes meat as he needs it day by day regardless of the hunting seaso b.

The final Indian witness was Andy Chelsea the 38 year old chief of the Alkali Lake Reserve. He had a grade seven education and was married and had five children. He showed a map which outlined the hunting areas used by band members since 1928 and demonstrated where areas had been logged out near the reserve. He told the court that the band had been taking control of many of their own programs such as education and housing to increase skilled employment of band members and reduce the drinking problem. He told the court he hunts to get meat when he wants meat, regardless of the hunting season. He stated he did not think sustenance

.74

permits applied to Indians. He said he obeyed laws like those for driving, but not hunting laws because hunting was his way of life.

'Use of Anthropologist as Expert Witness

The anthropologist called was Dr. Michael Asch, Associate Professor in the Department of Anthropology, University of Alberta. He was called as the last defence witness after he had hear all the evidence given during the course of the trial.

He was qualified in a thorough manner. His curriculum vitae was entered and, he was questioned by both counsel on its contents. The Crown noted that Dr.Asch had had a change in his major area of interest, but did not dispute his qualification because of his consistant work in the area of foraging cople and their economies over the last number of years. The trial judge qualified him as follows (Tenale Transcripts 1981: 455):

Dr: Asch, for the purpose of this hearing, I'm going to qualify you, firstly as an anthropologist, secondly as an expert on the sheory of culture change, thirdly, on the adaption of foraging people to the industrial society; and fourthly, on the post contact history of Europeans to the Native North Marican people, as requested by counsel. It will be a ruling accordingly. 75.

The examination in chief was lengthy and presented an overview of anthropological theory and direct evidence gathered from Dr. Asch's personal fieldwork and from reading. Dr. Asch defined for the court many terms including: foraging, anthropology, culture, institution, traditions, values, transmission by learning, way of life, the relationship between cultural events and culture, social change, reciprocity economies, Indian and Shuswap. He discussed issues such as the fact that there is disagregant. among anthropologists on the theory of culture change, the development of new ideas about hunting economies, and hunting as an institution in Indian culture.

Dr. Asch acknowledged that he had not studied the Shuswap people. He did, however, visit the reserve where the accused lived for two days before the trial to gather information of their hunting practices. When asked; he replied that he was able to apply the anthropological concepts he had described, on the basis of what he heard in Court and the information obtained from his visit. He then described the sharing of hunted food by the people as a form of reciprocity economy common to foraging peoples. This, he stated, was important in the socialization process of the people, and thus an important part of the continuation of their culture.

The expert witness interpreted the evidence given in regards to hunting and fishing practices. He stated that the two main features of huntng were its seasonality and the. fact that it satisfied a need for food. Their cultural practice was to hunt or fish during the proper season, and only to satisfy community needs for food. This was an opinion based on the evidence before the court and from his own observations.

An interesting and effective method was used to substantiate the anthropological evidence. Two documents, unrelated to the facts of the case, were entered as exhibits, and then referred to by the witness as comparat/ive and supportive material. Volume 1 of the Report of the Mackenzie Valley Pipeline Inquiry was used to demonstrate that other tribunals were concerned about a native group with a lifestyle and economy similar to the saccused. This document acknowledged that the Dene had a reciprocity economy based on hunting, and recommended that there be a period of adjustment before economic and technological changes were introduced to the area. Excerpts from the Report of the Select Committee on Aborigines, 1837, were also introduced. These were used to show that the British government recognized hunting and fishing as an important aspect of the way of life of the Indians from early times.

The Crown cross examined the witness and appeared to attempt to obtain a statement (from him that would show a subordinate cultural group may have a tendency to disobey the laws of a dominant group or revolt in some fashion. This was not successful. Both the Crown and the Court separately gestioned the concept of conservation. The witness clarified this point and explained that the Indians and the rest of society while each interested in conservation, by having a different emphasis on what to conserve they each had a different method whereby conservation, in their own terms, could be accomplished. The Indians concept of conservation was based primarly on two features: the question of seasonality, and the needs of the community, not personal, larder.

The evidence of the expert generally followed a pattern of explaining and defining anthropological concepts for the Court's understanding, then applying those concepts in an explanation of the evidence given by the Indian witnesses, and adding empirical data collected by himself. This was all substantiated by documents entered as exhibits.

Judicial Comments on the Use of Expert Evidence

The County Court heard the Dick and Tenale cases together. Judge Andrews noted (R. v. Tenale 1982:182-183):

A considerable volume of evidence was called at trial as to Indian culture, habits, history, the significance of hunting and fishing as part of that culture, and specifically as to provincial conservation objectives and methods, sustenance permits, food requirements, traditional claims and so on. This testimony was supported by various.maps as to alleged historic hunting areas, policy statements and lengthy opinion evidence of a Dr. M. Asch, an anthropologist who is the author of numerous papers dealing with *inter alia*, aboriginal rights.

The trial Judge dealt only briefly with the evidence in his reasons for judgment. He stated however that the conclusions he reached are "based upon my interpretation of the evidence and the inferences to be drawn therefrom, not on any finding of credibility of the various witnesses".

After dealing with the legal issues concerning the Traing regulations, and in the consideration of the hunting charge, the court held (R. v. Tenale 1982: 191):

I have reviewed bwis material and the substantial testimony of trial witnesses. It is apparent therefrom that hunting and fishing forms a significant part of the Indian culture. I do not conclude however, that the trial Judge was in error. I do not find in all of that evidence anything from which I might have reasonably concluded that the policy of the Wildlife Act was such as to impair, at least in any substantial way, the status and capacity of the appellants. I do not find in all that evidence anything from which I can reasonably conclude that status and capacity of the appellant was impaired to any greater degree than those Indians involved in the Kruger and Manuel and Haines cases. This court was required to follow and apply these Supreme Court of Canada decisions. Since Indians could hunt on reserves at all times, and off reserves during hunting sealon or with a permit, the provincial law did not destroy or impair their way of life as Indians.

The Court noted that the anthropological evidence was Tenale_1982; 192): "The extent of the evident does not, in my view raise a néw or novel posi it does demonstrate is that provincial mame laws in the stal have a "greater consequence" to 🕻 ellant than to others. But this is not sufficient. "A stande noted that while he was enlightened as to the way surfife of Indians, this nformation was not within the degree of evidence required to provide a defence in law. Only a law that totally prohibited an aspect of life that defined the people as Indians would be held to not apply to them. The County Court thus, found the evidence revealing as to the life ways of the accused but not relevant as a legal defence to the charge.

The Court of Appeal when considering the appeal on the fishing charges did not make reference to the evidence. The two justices who presented the majority judgment, MacDonald, J.A. and Seaton, J.A., made brief references to the evidence given and state that the question of the appeal was on findings of fact and not law and thus could reference to the anthropological evidence. He stated (R. v. Dick 1982: 183): Nine members of the Alkali Lake Band and three members of the Canoe Creek Band gave evidence. They described their lives and the significance of the rituals of food gathering. They told of their dependence on moose and deer for food and for traditional and valued items of daily clothing and ceremonial clothing. Their evidence was placed in its cultural framework by Dr. Michael Asch, an anthropologist.

He went on to list some of the static its prepared and desented by the anthropologist as well as a description of hunting and food sharing. He noted that (R. v. Dick 1982: 183): "Dr. Asch drew the relationship between the testimony " of the Indian witnesses and the institutions and factices of the traditional way of life of the Alkali Lake Band of Shuswap People".

The dissenting judgment does point out that the role of the anthropologist in this case was twofold, First, the presented important statistical evidence that contributed to an understanding of the hunting practice of the people. Second, he tied together all the evidence into a theoretical framework so that it could be more easily understood by and relevant to the court.

Although it was not specifically mentioned, the anthropological evidence appears to have had some impact on the issue of sentencing, since light fines were imposed.

Disposition by the Courts

The two charges, hunting and fishing violations, were heard together as one trial from January 25 to 39, 1981, in the Provincial Court of British Columbia, at 100 Mile House, before His Honour Judge G.H. Gilmour. After hearing the lengthy defence evidence, the Court found the accused guilty of one charge each. Dick was fined fifty dollars for killing the length of the court found the accused guilty of one charge each. Dick was fined fifty dollars for killing the for fishing out of Season.

All parties appealed the convictions to the British Columbia County Court. Judgment was given by His Honour Judge Andrews, on February 2, 1982. He held that the British Columbia Fisherie Regulation, BC 86/80, was ultra vires the province, a filowed the appeal of all parties to that conviction. In regards to the hunting conviction, he held that the Wildlife Act was a law of general application and it did not impair the appellants status and capacity as an -Indian, and thus upheld the conviction.

Dick appealled the conviction to the British Columbia Court of Appeal; at the same time, the Crown appealled the acquittals under the fishing regulation. Judgment was given on December 21, 1982. In regards to Dick the Court of Appeal split two to one, and upheld the conviction. Mr. Justice Seaton held that the appeal was based on questions of fact, dealt with by the County Court, and could only be based on questions of law alone. He also held that the Kruger and Haines cases had dealt with the issue and were not distinguishable from the case at bar. For these reasons he dismissed the appeal. Mr. Justice Macdonald, also held that the first two courts dealt with the issues of fact, and dismissed the appeal because it did not involve aquestion of law alone.

Mr detide Lambert, in a discenting judgment, allowed the appeal. He felt that the evidence given as to the way of life of the accused made the case distinguishable from Nouger, in which where was "an absence of clear evidence" that the Wildlife Act affected the Indian way of life. This opinion was falified by Lambert J. as follows (R. v. Dick 1982:15).

I have concluded that the provisions of the <u>Wildlife</u> <u>ACL</u>, to the extent and only to the extent that they prohibit or interfere with the activity of the <u>Alkaliblake Band</u> in foraging for food and skins by killing moose and deer for the use of Band members, do not apply to the Alkali Lake Band or to Arthur Dick as a member of that Band.

This decision, being a minority one, does not apply as law. The Supreme Court of Canada agreed with the majority decision.

In regards to the Crown's appeal of the acquittals on the fishing charges, judgment was given by Mr. Justice Seaton, and agreed to by Mr. Justice Macdonald. The appeal was dismissed, and the court held that the federal Fisheries Act did not give the Governor in Council the power to delegate to another government the power to enact regulations controlling fishing in the province. A second reason for the acquital was that the federal Statutory Instruments Act, section 11(2), stated that "no person shall be convicted of an offence consisting of a contravention of any regulation that at the time of the alleged contravention was not published in the <u>Canada Gazette</u>". The British Columbia regulations were not so published.

C. The "Jack and Charlie" Case

The Facts

The two accused, Anderson Jack and George Louie Charlie, were both members of the Tsartlip Band, at Saanich, British Columbia. They shot a deer for Elizabeth Jack, who was the wife of Jack and the sister of Charlie. She requested that they kill a deer for her so that she could burn raw deer meat in a ceremony to give food to her deceased ancestors.

The deer was shot, on May 26, 1978, on Pender Island, at a place that was not within an Indian reserve, during theclosed season. The Royal Canadian Mounted Police, acting on information given by an informant, searched the accused's car and finding the gutted deer, charged them with hunting a deer at a time not within the open season contrary to section 4(1)(c) of the Wildlife Act 1966.

The Legal Issues

The legal issues in this case were the same as the hunting issue in the Tenale and Dick case discussed above. The defence offered, however, was different, and somewhat unique. Mr. Justice Taggart, of the British Columbia Court of Appeal, stated the legal issues raised by the defence as (R. v. Jack 1982:197):

The appellants made substantially the same submissions to us as those made to the appeal court judge. While their arguments were separated into three divisions, as I view the arguments they are twofold.

The first is that in Canada there is a right to freedom of religion. Legislation which impairs that right, even though it may be given full effect for other purposes, cannot be so applied as to deny the right to practice religious beliefs.

The second argument is that the Act, by interfering with the freedom of the Coast Salish people to practice their religious beliefs, affects their capacity as Indians. Because it affects them as Indians, the Act can have no application to the [accused] in the circumstances of the present case. The defence, thus, was based on a "freedom of religion" argument, that the Wildlife Act, restricted the ability of Indians to engage in their religious practices of burning deer meat for their deceased ancestors.

Use of Indian Witnesses

In the Jack case nine Indian witnesses were called, including the two accused. The counsel conducting the case stated, in her opening remarks, that the purpose of calling these witnesses was to show that the practice of burning deer meat had a deep religious meaning to the Indian people and the accused hunters, and the "beliefs which support the practice go right to the root of these people calling themselves Indians" (Jack Transcripts 1979: 44).

The first witness was David Elliott, a sixty-nine year. old retired fisherman and custodian, of the Salish tribe who lived on the Tsartlip reserve. He was called to explain some of the history of his people and the meaning of hunting as background information for some of the other witnesses.

He described himself as an elder of his reserve. He said (Jack Transcripts 1979: 54): "I'm an old person, a senior person, a person that our people always look up to and honour, old people because they have much experience and much knowledge of their history, their past, their culture and so on." He gave a brief history of the territory of the Saanich people, and described the Saanich inlet as their traditional home base, and that their summer hunting area extended much beyond that, and included Pender Island. Traditional work included hunting, fishing, boatbuilding, sailing, and housebuilding.

Pender Island was used for hunting seals, porpoises and deer; for fishing; for gathering materials needed for

baskets and housebuilding; and for food gathering. Husting was learned from the older people who lived in large multi-family houses, although today individual families live separately and pass on traditional skills to the young. He related that hunting was a part of their way of life.

George Manuel, the second witness, was a fifty-eight year old, Interior Salish Indian from Mission, British Columbia. He was the President of the Union of British Columbia Indian Chiefs, and the President of the World Council of Indigenous People.'' Mr. Manuel gave evidence on the religious aspect of Indian life. He stated that Indians throughout Canada had the same religion, but that the ritual or style yaried. He gave evidence on the traditional methods of whecoming a religious leader, which usually involved a person spending an extended period of time alone in the bush until the person received a song from an animal that chose to help him

He described from his personal experience how government policy and the Christian church, through the residential schools and other means, attempted to suppress the practice of Indian religion for most of this century. The Indian religious beliefs were maintained, he contended, and this was especially the on the British Columbia coast. His testimony best describes his reasons for this

"This is an organization of 23 countries from South and Central America, the Pacific and Scandinavia, which had its founding meeting in Vancouver, B.C., in 1979, which was organized by George Manuel when he was the President of the National Indian Brotherhood. (Jack Transcripts 1979: 73):

Well, I think that everything I say is theories, I mean I'm not basing this in fact. I whink for one thing the Indians here were more mobile in terms of cances and they could move around a lot and they can move from one area to another and so in that respect I think they were able to retain their religion by going underground when the law'' came into force by moving one step ahead of the law all the time. I think the other is there was pleanty of food here, in the interior there weren't. Indians had to concentrate in certain areas and they were at the mercy of Christianity and the law enforcers. I think the third thing is, Vancouver Island...' Southern Vanouver Island was where all the commonwealth military officers came to retire in the early years and they had a very high class livelihood, when you compare it to Indian people, and I think that also they had experience in other commonwealth countries the same experience that they had so they didn't take the Indian religious activities here serious because they'd seen it in Africa and Asia and so

'This reference is to the anti-potlatch law first enacted in 1884.

'The transcripts contain in many places a notation ... apparently indicating either a pause in the testimony, a change of thought, or a word or words that were not heard or understood by the court reporter. These are included in quotations in this chapter as ... without spacing. Where I have left out part of a quote it will be indicated in the usual manner of... with spacing didn't have the same kind of concern for it and didn't take any serious actions against it.

The third Indian witness was Tom Sampson, a forty-three year old employee of the Federal Fisherie's Department, and a member and resident of the Tsartlip reserve. Mr. Sampson was the Chief Councillor of the band. He described the practice of burning as follows (Jack Transcripts 1979: 77):

Q. I am going to ask you to, at this time, describe to the court what a burning is.

A. Well, the burning, I suppose of... is in relation to our religious practices and usually it's done by very few people who are selected through training out of...over years of training Itguess. And the purpose of the burning is to assist the families in bringing about some peace of mind of their own. The burning, I suppose, is done by one of the elders who is here today, is to help the family, to help the family find peace of mind in remembering or trying to put their mind at ease with those who have passed on. It's usually a close, relative or even a friend, distant friends that it's done for. And the purpose of this is again to give medicine to the person or to the families involved. The purpose of it, I guess, the main purpose I guess, is to assist the family, it's to help us, make us feel better, it's to either remember our loved one or to try to put him away forever in our minds.

He related that the custom was probably hundreds of years old, since his great grandmother, who raised him, knew of the practice, and she died at the age of 109 years. His own family, had had a burning twice, and at one of those one of the accused, Anderson Jack, his wife Elizabeth and her father Louie Charlie, had assisted.

A burning, he stated, must be prepared for immediately upon the thought of a deceased persontentering the mind of a Salish Indian. A person who knows how to conduct one is contacted to tell what arrangements must be made, and what food must be gathered. In regards to the food he was asked (Jack Transcripts 1979):

Q. And I'm wondering whether or not the burning of deer meat, in your mind, is essential to the conducting of a burning?

A. Yes, it is. We believe, because of our teaching and our up bringing, that those type of foods that we eat, it's necessary to burn that kind of food. In other words if deer is the means formus to communicate or to make ourselves better with those who've passed on then that's the type of thing we have to do. We don't really have a choice, you can't substitute it for something else, because if you substitute it for something else you're not carrying out your practice of your religious beliefs according to, you know, how we have conducted, you know, the spirit world. And usually after discussion with Louie Charlie, who does most of the work for us, he will tell us, you know, what's probably the best. 91

He described how they believe that death only transforms a person to another world. People do not die, they just leave here for awhile; they cannot be seen but are always present. The survival of the people, he said, depends on being able to nourish their spiritual and religious beliefs by practicing the burning of food, and thereby feeding their ancestors.

On cross examination he was asked if there was a choice of traditional foods that could be burnt, or if one, and nothing else, could be burnt. He answered that a choice could be made from among the variety of foods eaten by the deceased in their lifetime. The Court asked why, if it was necessary to the religion, his family had burnt only twice. He replied that a burning is conducted only when it comes to the mind of someone, and they are not done on a regular schedule. Some families burn more often than others.

The fourth witness, Samuel Sam, gave brief evidence that confirmed what was said by the previous witness. Mr. Sam was a fifty-three year old coordinator of the drug and alcohol program for the Saanich Peninsula four reserves, and a member of the Tsartlip band. He had a burning on three occasions within the previous ten years, and at one the main participants in the events leading to the trial, assisted. When asked what significance burning had for himself, he answered (Jack Transcripts 1979: --): "Well; I mean, there's a lot of satisfaction, I guess, spiritually, emotionally, of being close to that spiritual world of the spirits of your elders that have gone." He summarized his evidence by saying that burning is an important way for Indians to deal with emotional upset, since they mostly feel that non-Indian psychiartists cannot help.

Elizabeth Jack; wife of one of the accused and sister of the other, was called as the ffith witness. She gave the details of the events that led up to the charges of the case being laid.

Her father, Louie Charlie, was one of the main religious leaders of the band who conducted burnings. He taught her and her brother, George Charlie, how to assist in burnings, since they were children. In December, 1977 she held a burning for her ancestors, and burnt potatoes, hamburger, Indian bread and clams, because that is what she said they all ate. Her father told her that she had to burn raw deer meat, for her great grandfather, and because she had none, she was bothered and felt she needed to conduct a second burning. She asked two men to be a deer, but they did not. She finally asked her husband and brother, and they went together to Pender Island and shot the deer in May, 1978. After the deer was seized by the police, she had her burning and burnt clams, Indian bread and some pop. Her father, eightyzone year old, Louie Charlie, was

called next. He gave a brief, and undetailed description of

burnings and added little to what was already given in evidence.

Anderson Jack, one of the accused, was the next Indian witness, and he followed the anthropological expert witness whose evidence will be discussed later. He was a fifty-five year old member of the Kuper Band of British Columbia. He gave evidence that described the killing of the deer, and stated (Jack Transcripts 1979: 136):

All I thought, 'We're Indians, we're in the Indian reserve', like what Dave Elliott said, that island belongs to the Indians, it's where they get their 'foods, gather their food in the summertime, they dry -it up, the fish the clams, the deer meat, they even dry the deer meat ready for the winter.

He confirmed earlier evidence that he regularly participated in burnings by assisting with the preparation of wood and building the fire.

The eighth Indian witness was George Charlie, the other accused, a fifty-one year old member of the Tsartlip reserve. He also described the events leading to the killing of the deer and said (Jack Transcripts 1979: 141):

Well, according to my belief I know that that what we wanted...what my sister wanted, meat that...for the burning, and it's not for me. not for my father, it's not for the family but it's for the people that are gone, and that was the reason why I shot that deer. He also confirmed that he regularly assisted his father with 'burnings by doing whatever there was to be done.

The final witness for the defence was forty-five year old Phipip Paul, a member and resident of the Tsartlip reserve, and Vice-president of the Union of British Columbia Indian Chiefs, responsible for the development of educational policy for Indian people of British Columbia. He described that education and Christian churches have failed to meet the spiritual needs of Indians, which has resulted in high numbers of criminal convictions, alcohol abuse and high suicide rate among the people. He stated that there is a rebirth of spiritual approach to Indian culture across Canada.

He had Louie Charlie do two burnings for his deceased father. He summed up his beliefs as follows (Jack Transcripts 1979: 149):

Well, I think that the Indian spiritual approaches are so intertwined with the culture of Indian people and so much a part of the lifestyle, you know, without the spiritual approaches there'd be relatively nothing on which to build the culture. And I think that the spiritual churches fell because most of their...most of our understanding at least of being inbvolved with the Christian churches, they are very much cought up in dogma and hierarchy and structure and things that Indian people cannot relate to, and from my living and understanding of my own people their whole...the main part of their culture is a spiritual part and it's related to nature and without this spiritual essence the culture would be nothing and it's so much an essence of the cultural life style of Indian people that if we weren't allowed to practice these approaches then the culture wouldn's survive.

Use of Anthropological Expert Witness

The anthropologist called was Dr. Barbara Lane from Victoria, British Columbia. Her curriculum vitae was entered as an exhibit and a voir dire held to determine the issue of her qualifications. She stated that she had a Ph. D. and wrote her dissertation on the religious systems of the northwest coast Indians. She had thirty years experience in studying the Coast Salish, and during that time had attended many private and public religious cerimonies. She had appeared in previous cases as an expert witness in Alaska and British Columbia. Her qualifications were uncontested by either the Crown or the Court.

Although the Court stated that she was qualified to express opinions and give opinion evidence, almost all of the evidence she gave was direct and not opinion. She described that burnings are documented in the anthropological literature, and gave a brief description of the practice. She indicated that the practice was eltremely old and stated (Transcripts 1979: 129): Well, all the evidence would suggest that it's been going on as long as these people have been in this area, which is somewhere upwards to twenty/ thousand years. We have no reason to assume that the antiquity of these religious practices and beliefs is any less old than Juda or thristian tradition, probably older.

She described the Indian view of the world and the place that deceased people had in it, and talked about the job of religious specialists. When asked her opinion as to what were the "indicià of religiousness" in the practice of burning, she replied in reference to the testimony of the previous Indian witnesses and repeated what they had said.

The only real opinion made in relation to the issue before the court was (Jack Transcripts 1979: 134):

Q. In your opinion is the Indian religious praactice of burning a vital part of the Indian religion today?

A. I would say it's [the] essential part. There was no cross examination.

Judicial Comments on the Use of Expert Evidence

The trial judge in the Jack case at first was uncertain of the value of the evidence proposed. He stated (R. v. Jack 1979: 338);

At the outset I quieried the relevance of the

evidence which defence counsel proposed to call,

however, counsel for the Crown did not raise any objection and in fact appeared to consider it was relevant and admissible and was co-operative and sympathetic with the accused throughout. The court noted that the evidence given was interesting and revealed the religions practices and beliefs of the Coast Salish.

The court noted that the evidence of the Indian witnesses was put forward sincerely. He listed the witnesses by name and gave the main essence of each contribution. The evidence of these witnesses and the anthropologist was accepted by the court and summed up as follows (R. v. Jack 1979: 340-341):

The members of the Saanich people who testified all spoke of the religious ceremony of burning food to satisfy the spirits of their ancestors, and their elder, Louie Charlie, said that the ceremony of burning food required the kind of food which was eaten by the ancestor and that no other would do to satisfy the ancestor's spirit. Doctor Lane, the anthropologist, said that the burning of food for the dead is a kind of memorial and is a very ancient traditional ceremony. She said the Coast Salish have lived here about 20,000 years and that all of the evidence indicates that these practices have prevailed as long as those people have lived there. She says that the ceremony of burning food is

eferred to in the earliest records written about the Coast Salish people of whom the Saanich are a part. They believe that all the animals and birds. and people who have lived here continue to live here after they die, although they cannot be seen, their spirits are all around us. They do not understand how other people can leave their ancestors in other parts of the world. She said much local religion is concerned with maintaining the well-being of humans and animals. One of their religious specialists, like Louie Charlie, helps them to communicate with the spirits of dead relatives and is hired to do so and he burns food for the dead. Food so burned is meant to be eaten by the dead and they obtain sustenance through the smoke. This, she said, is an essential part of the religious practices of the Coast Salish peoples. Many other Indian tribes believe the spirits of the dead are always with them. I am satisfied, therefore, that the practice of burning food in a ceremony for the dead among the Saanich people has been established by the evidence and that these practices have been passed down from generation to generation through the elders.

The court thus accepted as fact the evidence concerning the burning ceremony given by the Indian witnesses and the anthropologist. This fact, although it gave the court a greater understanding of the accused and their religious practices, did not relate directly to the case as a legal defence to the act of hunting, and the case was lost by them for reasons given below.

The County Court did not refer to the anthropological evidence except indirectly in a reference to the "sincerely held religious belief" which the court held to be properly the subject of legal sanction.

Two of the three Appellate Justices referred to the anthropological evidence, and the third noted as fact one statement made by the anthropologist. Mr. Justice Taggart set out the evidence at length and noted how Dr. Lane explained the bellefs behind the burnings, the practices involved in burnings, he noted that she listed anthropological literature and that her evidence was confirmed by the Indian witnesses. Mr. Justice Craig also referred to Dr. Lane's testimony as confirming the Indian witnesses's statements. Although 'this evidence was noted as a finding of fact at trial, the appeal was lost by the accused on other grounds noted below.

All of the Courts appear to have accepted the evidence of the Indian witnesses and the anthropologists as valuable information which led to a finding of fact and a greater understanding of the actions of the accused. The statements were not challenged by the Crown or the Court, and were accepted as admissible evidence. The relevance of the evidence was the problem. The courts all considered that the evidence was of a practice associated with a religious

i
practice and not a religious belief, and thug not a defence to the charges.

Disposition by the Courts

The trial of the issue was conducted on May 31 and June 1, 1979, before His Honour Judge Allan; of the British Columbia Provincial Court. Judgment was given on June 28, 1979. After distinguishing a series of cases on religious freedom, the court held (R. v. Jack 1979:344-345): In Kruger . . . the Supreme Court of Canada considered the very statute which is said to have been breached here, and decided unanimously that it was a statute of general application and a valid enactment, having as its object the conservation and management of provincial wildlife resources and that the accused, who were Indians, were subject to its provisions so long as the Act, in its policy, did not seek to impair the status and capacities of the accused as Indians. It is here contended that the effect of the provision which is sought by the Crown to be enforced is to impair the status of the accused as Indians by preventing them from exercising their bona fide religious practices. I am unable to accept that contention. To do so may well prevent the effective management and conservation of provincial wildlife resources. If Indians wish to exercise their historic religious practices there

are ways within the bounds of the provincial statute. in which to exercise those religious practices. They can, for example retain a supply of deer meat in storage for such purposes. Section 9 [rep. 4 sub. 1971, cr 69, s. 9] of the Wildlife Act makes provision for that. The purpose of the Act is what matters. This Act has been held to be and is, clearly, I think, of general application and was certainly not aimed at preventing the Coast Salish from effercising any religious practice, and the act of burning food as an offering to the spirit of an. ancestor is not prohibited. If it is excercised within the limits of the general law it may be freely carried out by the Saanich people, and . although there is no question as to the intent of the accused it is thus immaterial that this offence appears to be one of absolute liability, all persons in the Province are bound by the provisions of the Wildlife Act, save those who come within the / exception, by obtaining a permit, which is not relevant here. In strict logic even persons who have committed this offence while legally insame ought to be found quilty of it if fit to stand trial at the time of trial. And the fact that the deer was killed to obtain deer meat for use in a religious ceremony, as here, is no defence. In other words, once the actus reus is proven a finding of guilt must follow,

The provincial law applied to hunting. The defence raised was in regards to a religious practice or ceremony. If the act committed had been part of a religious belief and was prevented by the provincial law it would have been a good defence. For example, if Indians believed that animals must only be killed at night with the aid of a light or some spiritual harm would befall the hunter, provincial laws against night hunting would affect their Indianess. This was not the case here, however.

An appeal was made to the County Court, and His Honour Judge Tyrwhitt-Drake dismissed the appeal on February 14, 1980. In regards to the effect of the Wildlife Act on religious freedom the Court found that there is a difference between "freedom of religion", which is really "liberty of conscience", and the practices which flow from a religious belief. He distinguished cases presented in argument on the grounds that they dealt with the impact of legislation on liberty of conscience, while the case at bar concerned a conflict between a statutory prohibition and an act of religious practice, when such acts are properly subject to sanctions imposed by law. In regards to the issue of the effect of the Wildlife Act on the status of the accused as Indians, the Court followed Kruger and stated (R. v. Jack 1980:5): "There was no evidence before the learned Judge from which it could be inferred that the Wildlife Act was directed against native persons in any unfair or discriminatory way."

This decision was again appealled, this time to the British Columbia Gourt of Appeal. On June 15, 1982 the Court gave a two to one decision, again rejecting the appellants' contention. Mr. Justice Taggart held that the Wildlife Act did not have as one of its purposed the regulation or restricting of freedom of religion, it was to regulate hunting to protect wildlife. For this reason the first argument failed. In regards to the question of the affect of the legislation on their capacity as Indians, Taggart, J.A., applying Kruger, said (R. v. Jack 1982:202):

. . in order to succeed on this second argument, the appellants must show that the policy of the Act is to impair the capacity of Indians to practise their religion. It is conceded that the Act does not affect the status of Indians. In my opinion there is no evidence before us of a legislative policy to impair the capacity of Indians in the manner contended for by the appellants.

and thus the second argument also failed.

Mr. Justice Craig agreed that the appeal should be dismissed. He held that the County Court found that the premise of religious freedom related not only to thought and belief, but also to practice; but that practice might be subject to legal sanction if it was an illegal act. In regards to the question of legislative impairment of status an an Indian, Craig, J.A. held that Kruger determined that the Wildlife Act applied to Indians. The argument of the appellant that it impaired their status depended on evidence and thus was not a question of law alone, and could not be considered by an appellate court.

Mr. Justice Hutcheon, in a discenting opinion, would have allowed the appeal, and stated (R. v. Jack 1982: 210): "In my opinion the Wildlife Act ought to be read so as to acknowledge the right of Jack and Charlie on these facts to practice their religion where no competing interest of society exists."

D. Comparison of the Use of the Experts.

These two cases demonstrate different uses of anthropological expert witnesses. The differences arose both from the manner in which the lawyers presented the order of their witnesses and the detail in which they examined them and the way in which the anthropologists prepared themselves.

In the Tenale case the lawyer caled all Indian witnesses first and introduced his expert at the end. The questioning of the anthropologist was detailed, but allowed him to expand on his evidence and present it in his own order. The court and Crown counsel both questioned the expert. In the Jack case, on the other hand, the defence lawyer presented her expert in the middle of all witnesses. The examination was brief and not detailed.

The anthropologist in Tenale was very well prepared. He had spent time, even though it was very short, immediately before the trial with the Indians on the reserve from which the accused came. He gave detailed definitions of the terms and concepts he relied on in his evidence. He based his evidence on anthropological theory, empirical evidence, research and documents. The evidence was given in a clear, detailed and at times humorous manner. His evidence supported the brief evidence of the Indian witnesses, and provided background, context and an explanation of why their evidence of the events made sense to their whole way of life.

This was not the case in Jack. Here the anthropologist did not conduct any recent investigation but relied on her research and work from former years. She presented no theory, no cultural background or context and provided only inferences to supporting literature. She made a statement as to the length of time the Indians had practiced the burning ceremony in British Columbia without reference to factual evidence that would support it, even though many athropologists would strongly disagree with it.

The Court appeared to appreciate these differences. The various levels of court all agreed that in Tenale the anthropolgoist presented important statistical evidence and tied all the evidence together into a theoretical framework making it more easy to understand. In Jack, on the other hand, most of the courts found that the anthropologist's evidence merely confirmed the Indian witnesses' evidence. In this case the evidence of the Indians was presented in much greater detail than that supplied by the expert. It can be seen that an anthropologist can be of considerable value in providing background and cultural continuity to the evidence of other witnesses. An expert who sits through the trial and hears all the witnesses can tie their evidence together and link the parts to theory and cultural reality. This can give the court a much more complete sense of the motivation and actions of the accused. Because cases are decided on issues of law this evidence may not always be that used to decide a case. It is, however, an importat element in giving the best explanation of the situation to a court and must be presented by both lawyer

106

and anthropologist in a theoretical framework that ties together all the evidence, as done in Tenale.

V. ANTHROPOLOGY AND EXPERT EVIDENCE

A. Introduction

So far this thesis has examined the rules of evidence that are applied to expert witnesses who testify in Canadian courts. This has demonstrated what types of information experts can contribute to courts; that is, they may give direct evidence from their own observation and research, they may outline the theoretical principles that they follow based on authoritive literature, and they may give opinions based either on facts before the court or on hypothetical questions. In addition, a brief history of the use of anthropological experts in American and Canadian courts was outlined. These preceeding chapters have looked at the use of anthropological expert witnesses from the perspective of the courts. This chapter will undertake to look at this relationship from the perspective of the anthropologist, at least insofar as looking at the possible effects such experiences may have on anthropologists and the practice of anthropology.

Anthropologists, as social scientists, generally practice their profession in an academic setting where theories are developed and exchanged through research, reading, publishing and a constant exchange and challenge of information by colleagues. Research is generally conducted over an extended period of time. Results are often tested by means of the researcher presenting a paper at a learned

conference. Question, debate, contradiction and sometimes confirmation by other anthropologists may lead the researcher to accept, redefine or repeat the work presented. As a result, the body of knowledge continually grows. Likewise, the body of knowledge of the discipline is taught in universities in a fashion that allows for challenge and growth. While a certain amount of factual information must be delivered in a dogmatic fashion, theory and contemporary issues may be, and often are, presented so that students may have input and form their own opinions as to the position they take. The doctrine is growing and is usually presented as such.

108

en cantador personal y colar personal de la compañía de la compañía de la compañía de la compañía de la compañí

0

When an anthropologist gives evidence in court the method of preparation for the case and method of presentation are greatly different from the norm of the profession. Often there is only a very short time for the anthropologist to research and prepare a position for the side that has requested it. The way the material is presented is also different—it must be presented as an indisputable statement. "Speculations, interpretations beyond secure data, and attempts to get reactions to a new idea can be exciting features of a seminar, but such forays are not meant for a record upon which cross-examination is based" (Wolfgang 1974: 245). In addition, the witness is asked specific questions that are directed at a legal issue known to counsel and the judge, but may be unknown to or legally misinterpreted by the anthropologist. The questions may direct the witness to give information that appears to be anthropologically unsound or the witness may be denied the opportunity to express ideas that he feels are important academically. The witness also often finds that the court situation does not permit an exchange of ideas, it takes specific information from each witness and choses from among this for its decision. In addition to these features, the witness clearly represents one side in a dispute and is often directed by counsel before the trial to gather information supporting a specific aspect of one side of the case and is questioned only on this information and not on conflicting data or theory that may exist. In the absence of an anthropoligically informed opposing counsel, cross-examination will not elicit this information and the

witness will be in the position of giving what may be only a portion of the whole information that he has knowledge of.

B. Interaction between the professions

As McMillan (1975: 163) states, social science ". ... is entitled to a respected place in the halls of justice. The study of people and their problems is a natural prerequisite of the legal decision of problems among people." In order to present social science evidence to the court lawyers must engage social scientists as experts, thus creating a relatonship between individuals in the two disciplines. Why lawyers use anthropologists

Legal cases being conducted on the adversary system demand that the evidence given be supporting of or capable of being construed in favour of only one side of a case. Generally much care and consideration is employed to obtain the best expert possible who is willing to give evidence for the party who calls him and lawyers must use whatever means they can to find such experts.

As an extreme example, Lochner (1973: 822) suggested that ". . an attorney may be especially receptive to using the social sciences if his case is unlikely to be won without recourse to novel methods of proof." This may have been the case in R. v. Jack and Charlie (1982) in which counsel entered evidence that a deer was hunted and killed by the Indian accused in order to provide deer meat to be burnt in a ceremony for some deceased ancestors. The courts did not accept this as a valid defence to the charges and convicted the accused. In this instance the use of a novel defence was not successful.

Many types of litigation involve experts as a matter of course. Psychiatrists are frequently called in criminal matters by defence lawyers for defence purposes or for speaking to sentence. Medical specialists are always called to substantiate or dispute compensation claims, in personal injury actions. Lawyers are quick to discover which doctors are "plaintiff's experts" or "defendant's experts" and those that will give either an unbiased medical opinion or will not get involved at all. "If one expert does not give the lawyer what he demands, he does not hesitate to discard him and search the market until he finds what he wants" (Friedman 1909-10: 254). In matters such as the prognosis for a person suffering from a "whiplash" injury the opinion of experts vary considerably and especially so when they appear for opposing sides in litigation. It is possible that lawyers could request anthropologists to give opposing evidence in a case concerning Indians, in matters such as the degree of assimilation, or the importance and prevelance of a native cultural practice among a group of Indians. As yet, this does not appear to be happening. Rose (1955: 215) points out:

Clever lawyers will probably increasingly be aware of the possibility of hiring social scientists to serve as expert witnesses for their side, and--if this happens--conscientious judges will either have to acquaint themselves with the possibilities and limitations of social science to decide when the social science evidence is reliable or else rely on court-appointed social scientists who are presumably neutral.

Competence of lawyers

Social science experss, and in particular cultural anthropologists, are not frequently called. Lochner (1973) says that the single most important barrier to this is ignorance on the part of lawyers. He stated (1973: 825):

Ignorance of the social sciences and the reluctance to use social science research suggests a failure in the education of most attorneys. The failure is two-fold: (1) It is a failure to become acquainted with a body of relevant information; and (2) it is a failure to be receptive to new ways of resolving legal problems.

Time constraints that do not allow for finding an anthropologist with expertise in the area of the legal issue, for adequate defence research, and reluctance of lawyers to try something new are also reasons for the lack of use of anthropologists as experts (Lochner 1973).

The decision of whether or not to use an anthropologist as an expert is also determined by the competence and experience of the lawyer. Once the decision has been made, the competence of both the lawyer introducing the evidence and the one conducting the cross-examination is extremely critical to the probability of the evidence being accepted by the trier of fact, be it judge or jury.

Incompetence or an insufficiency in ethical practice, may cause a lawyer to alienate an otherwise willing anthropologist from acting as an expert; or, on the other hand, may sway an overly compassionate anthropologist to

vigorously support a moral (but not necessarily legal) cause. Manners (1956: 76) notes:

na alfan af na ar g<u>a</u>ininan a

. . . certain subtle pressures are sometimes allegedly applied by the attorneys for the Indians in an effort to insure that the data uncovered by the investigator will at least cover the claim submitted by them. . . Although the number of lawyers who might attempt this maneuver must be exceedingly small, one would be shortsighted to overlook the temptation this kind of thing presents. In cases such as this, the anthropologist approached has the option to refuse to conduct research or to present information that does not meet the standards of the profession.

In dealing with anthropological experts the lawyer must be competent in finding the right person, giving adequate pre-trial instructions, conducting examination in chief to introduce the necessary information, and explaining the relevance of the evidence in context of the case at bar to the trier of fact. Opposing counsel must likewise be competent in cross-examination.

The lawyer who desires to call an expert must deal with many issues as Rose (1955: 217) states:

The problem, of course, is one of the lawyer communicating the legal issue to a competent social 'scientist; the social scientist scouring the literature to ascertain if any relevant studies exist; if not, the social scientist indicating the expense and time necessary to do an adequate study; the social scientist communicating the scientific findings to the lawyer; the lawyer deciding the best

way of bringing this evidence into court. As can be seen competence must be possessed by both the lawyer and the anthropologist for the most effective employment of the possible evidence.

The lawyer's skill required to elicit the evidence from the anthropologist on the stand is somewhat dependent on the skill of the anthropologist and his understanding of the legal issues before the court. Assuming that the anthropologist is skilled, Vit is important that the lawyer be competent in his ability to explain the case to the anthropologist so that he may be able to give the evidence in as clear and uninterrupted fashion as possible. Skillful pre-trial preparation of the expert is critical.

From the opposing party's view, competent cross-examination of experts is essential. In regards to forensic scientists, Phillips (1977: 457) notes that such an expert

. . . may be shocked in confronting a defence lawyer not only vested in the skills of the courtroom, but also possessing substantial expertise in the scientific field about which the expert witness is testifying. More and more lawyers are becoming knowledgeable in the varied fields of forensic.

science.

Seminars and symposia are offered in a variety of topic areas, (Phillips 1977) specialty journals are available for lawyers (eg. Medical-Legal Journal) and recently many people trained in other professional fields such as medicine, accounting or engineering are completing law school and engaging in legal practice. As yet, few lawyers have become competently familiar with anthropological literature and practice, but this may change as anthropologists are used more often.

If the opposing lawyer does not have the expertise required to conduct effective cross-examination, the assistance of an opposing anthropologist may be employed. Such an anthropologist may be utilized solely for the purpose of teaching and coaching the lawyer for his cross-examination, or may be used as a witness giving opposing expert evidence. Cross-examination can be used to impeach the credibility of the expert or his evidence, either resulting in a diminished impact on the court.

Role of anthropologists in court

Lawyers direct the testimony of the expert by their employment, pre-trial instructions and questioning. Despite this, anthropologists in this capacity do have an active role to play. Ball (1960) asked not "should" experts play a role, but, "what role" should they play. This was answered by McGurk (1960: 253) who said:

It should be lear that I believe that social scientists should play a role in guiding legal process. But it should be equally clear that I believe their role should be that of the scientist, not that of the progagandistic social reformer. Rose (1955: 215) agreed and offered an expanded opinion on the role:

. . the social scientist was in no way substituting for the lawyer; the social scientist cannot be an advocate in his role as scientist. It is equally important to recognize that the social scientist is not proposing a new rule to replace the law. He is not suggesting that principles of ethics or humanitarianism or majority rule (as determined by public opinion polls) replace the law, as some have suggested. What the social scientist can do in the courtroom is to present certain social facts that serve as conditions affecting the outcome of the case. That is, there are certain cases in which the judge must assume certain social facts to be true before he can arrive at any decision.

The anthropologist's role is that of providing specialized information to the court so that the court can make a legal decision based on the facts of the case, including the social and cultural facts as presented. Variance in terminology

ڻ»

The purpose of the expert witness is to provide information of a specialized nature to the court for its assistance in determining the case before it. It is trite to say that exact communication of concepts is essential for this purpose, but this is a quality that is assumed to be present when it may in fact be absent. Judges, who often have no scientific background, must make decisions on cases involving difficult technical or theoretical issues in a variety of disciplines. Maslow (1960: 244) believed that expert witnesses "are skilled not only in their sciences but in the art of presenting the essential data to laymen." He saw that the lawyers task of convincing the court that social science evidence is necessary, useful and proper evidence is the most difficult issue. Social scientists, he said, need not fear that judges will not understand their theories and research. The opposing view, however, is equally sound. There is often a great problem in the communication of concepts especially when terminology from a special subject language is utilized. Further problems can . arise when the witness does not intimately understand the legal issues and strategy involved in the case.

Lawyers and social scientists are trained to use different specialized languages, to conduct research in ways particular 'to each discipline and to utilize and present the data in different ways. While anthropologists will look at a group or an issue from a more universal perspective, lawyers focus on only one side of an issue as demanded by the adversarial system. Another difficulty arises in the method of perception of ideas by the two disciplines. Lurie (1955: 364) illustrated one example of this:

One of the difficulties of which the ethnologist must be especially aware is that lawyers think in terms of precedents while ethnologists think in terms of cultural generalizations. Thus, the ethnologist may see his concepts of land ownership as derived from one society interpreted as firm precedents in another case.

It is important for the anthropologist to clearly explain to the lawyer before the trial preparation is commenced the significance of cultural differences and the possible inapplicability of other cultural illustrations as precedent.

It is also important that the anthropologist and lawyer agree on terminology that will be used by the witness at trial. Any words that may appear in both disciplines, such as "property", "corporation", and "ownership", should be discussed so that the anthropologist will make it clear to the court the meaning that is attached to these words and the context within which they are used by anthropologists. In the absence of such explanation, the court will naturally interpret the words according to its own legal knowledge.

The ways in which lawyers interpret, question or apply social science research may also be of concern to social scientists. Wolfgang (1974) discussed this problem in reference to testimony here we based on original research he conducted for a trial. He said (1974: 244):

. . . instead of being asked questions directly related to the scientific limitations of the research, I was asked a series of questions that, from my scientific perspective, had no relationship to the thrust of the inquiry, or to the reliability or validity of the findings.

He found that the court formed opinions that "contravene the traditional scientific canons of response" (1984: 244). The opinions formed by the court or lawyers on the social science evidence can be upsetting to an expert, as Wolfgang suggested (1974: 244):

These are common assertions made by persons who are not social scientists trained in statistics. Yet, the social scientist who becomes involved in testifying in this area must be prepared for arguments and decisions that are political or that reside in legal vicissitudes outside the framework of social science inquiry and evidence.

This perception may arise from the lack of understanding of the requirements for proof concerning the legal issue or of the strategy being employed by counsel.

This problem can be overcome by an increase in knowledge of the theories, techniques and terminology of the other's discipline. The anthropologist's difficulty arises from a lack of real acquaintance with the theory and practice of law; and the lawyer, likewise, generally has little or no training in the social sciences (Ball 1960). Such knowledge will not likely arise in formal education since law students are rarely awaye of the type of legal practice they will pursue, and anthropology students can never know if they will be required as an expert witness. Courses are thus not justified. Seminars and publications could assist persons who are practitioners in either field who may participate in such litigation. The best method, however, appears to be an early and ongoing exchange of information and strategy between the lawyer and expert working together on a case.

-C.- Anthropologists

It is likely that cultural anthropologists will be utilized as expert witnesses in litigation with greater frequency in the future. Each individual that is requested to give evidence is faced with the same issues in making the decision first to appear, and secondly how to present anthropological information within the rules of evidence.

Motivation for appearing as an expert.

Most people are pleased and honoured to be recognized as a person with special skills or knowledge, so must be anthropologists who are asked to appear as an "expert" for a court case. It is unlikely, however, that anyone would accept this job solely for the preceived glory of acknowledgment as an expert. Motivation for agreeing to act has generally been attributed to a desire to support a cause or group, monetary gain, or the desire to influence policy or legal changes.

Wolfgang (1974) stated that he was willing to act as an expert for the NAACP, since he supported equality of opportunity and was opposed to discrimination. He also stated that he turned down an opportunity to represent the National Rifle Association because of his opposition to civilian gun ownership. From this revelation, it would appear that Wolfgang acted only for causes that he was morally motivated to support, but in the same paper he later said (1974: 245):

Lawyers should beware of those social scientists who are only too willing to be expert witnesses on the basis of their fervent feelings for the cause at issue. Unless such scientists have empirical evidentiary material to butress an argument, they will be more of a burden than a blessing.

The important criteria in being a social scientist motivated by a moral committment to a cause or issue, is excellence in research design and methodology, so that the evidence given cannot be discredited even if the bias of the anthropologist is apparent.

There are certain temptations that may lead an anthropologist who is motivated by moral committment to an issue to lessen his research or methodoligical standards or vary his opinion in favour of the client. The motivation to help is one temptation. Another is the fact that the client stands to lose his liberty, money, land, or some other legal right if the court decides against him. A third is the fact that generally anthropological evidence goes unchallenged by the absence of opposing experts and by inadequate cross-examination. Finally, the fact that rarely does anyone else in the profession see or hear the evidence may have an influence on what is presented, at least in regards to the completeness of the material presented. The influence of these temptations to act may be encouraged by some lawyers who are attempting to win their case at any cost, but they should be considered when an anthropologist accepts the role of expert.

A second motivation for acting as an expert is the financial rewards that may be available. Many native clients do not have the financial resources to pay for experts and if Legal Aid is given the fees are fixed and generally quite small. There are, however, some very wealthy Indian bands, others who are supported by federal funding to seek a legal declaration on an issue, and still others that stand to receive large amounts of compensation for land claims or

from the awarding of damages and legal costs who can offer substantial payments to persons who support them. Loyalty to the person who pays the fee can be a reasonable motivation for acting (Steward 1955). The uncertainty of the job market and scarcity of university jobs has created a necessity for some social scientists to seek new forms of employment as consultants. Adams said of the American situation (1977: 264):

United States anthropologists . . . split on whether they should be devoting themselves to research and the academy, or research and public action. These positions and their opposites are strategies employed, with greater or less wit and success, in the rationale that they will provide for a better survival for someone. The discipline's move toward the public sector during the Great Depression, then toward academia during its halcyon days, and now again toward the public area is merely the seeking of a strategy that seems to take better advantage of the market. The question has never been whether academia is more important than the public; rather, it is what is most likely to keep anthropologists alive.

Problems also exist for a witness who is motivated by the promise of compensation. Because of the legal requirements necessary to qualify a witness as an expert, it may be less likely that someone not associated with a university or who

is not actively employed as an anthropologist would be acceptable to the court. Monetary motivation, while it could not exist alone, may still be a factor, however.

Finally, there may be as an element of motivation the desire by an anthropologist to produce specific legal or policy changes (Lochner 1973). Research and publication may be directed towards this end, but it is also possible to give evidence that implies this desire. Courts having the function to apply, not to create or change the law, would be an ineffective forum for this exercise.

Whatever the motivation may be for an anthropologist to accept the task of being an expert, at present it is the lawyer who makes the first contact. Thus this factor is not as weighty as it would be if anthropologists were actively seeking out such employment. In the United States medical doctors and other professionals advertise their availability as experts in legal journals, which clearly demonstrates their motivation. Hopefully, such a practice will not be commenced by social scientists.

Bias of the expert

Another concern for expert witneses is that they are placed in a position of bias by virtue of the nature of the adversarial system. In a somewhat pessimistic tone Conrad said (1964: 445): "Any attempt to become scientifically objective in the Anglo-American legal system is doomed to failure from the very beginning" and that the expert "must take a position for or against a party and therefore is placed in a position of bias right from the very start." Friedman (1909-10) commented that experts are sometimes thought of as "intellectual prostitutes". Regardless of whether or not an expert is motivated in favour of his client, the system creates, if not the requirement for bias, at least the appearance of it.

It is of course only reasonable that an expert witness will answer the questions addressed to him and thus give evidence for one side. The law has, however, a rule for the elimination or reduction of bias in expert evidence by the use of court appointed experts. A survey of American psychiatrists found that fifteen percent of those responding refused to testify as an expert unless they were in an impartial capacity (Guttmacher 1960-61). This is not yet an issue with anthropologists, but could become one if more cases employed experts on both sides.

Expert evidence as "truth" *

Experts are sworn to tell "the whole truth and nothing but the truth". In order to do this they must meet two different standards. First, they must comply with the legal rules of evidence and second, they must meet the standards of their own profession in a manner consistant with court testimony. Expert witnesses must firstly comply with the rules of evidence. Conrad saw this as an impediment to scientific investigation since, as he perceived it, the witness "mustcomform to truth as molded by lawyer-made artificial rules of evidence" (1964: 446). The rules of evidence, used in the adversarial system, permit the introduction of only that information which supports the case of the party calling it and allows for the omission of negative evidence. Wolfgang said of this (1974: 246):

Evidence unsupportive of one's case, however complete or segmental it may be, has no function in the adversary game. Such evidence may be useful in a scientific article, but if one piece of evidence is contravened by other evidence, it has no proper place in argument before a court. . . There is selectivity unlike that which exists in science.

Wolfgang suggests that acceptance of this fact should not be taken as surrender to the rules of evidence, but as "a filtering of the scientific rules through a set of values that may be different" (1974: 246). The legal rules are necessary for a finding of the truth for the purpose of a trial.

When two experts appear on opposite sides at a trial their evidence on the issues will be contradictory. The courts have experience in such situations and realize that there is usually some validity in each point of view. The rules govern how a court assesses credibility, admissibility

and weight to such evidence. Further considerations include . a determination if conflicting theoretical positions exist, the general acceptance of the expert's doctrine among his professional peers, and whether the opinion offered is based on specific research or only on theoretical considerations (Maslow 1960). The court should also consider that (Lochner 1973: 828):

Most often their differences can be accounted for. Social scientists investigating the same question may gather data differently, may make different assumptions, or may use different operational definitions. Inconsistent conclusions may only indicate procedural variations rather than

intellectual chaos in the field.

" ****

The court must decide which evidence it will accept and the anthropologist acting as an expert need not be concerned with the legal definition of truth, but only with his own conclusions.

Anthropologists must satisfy not only themselves but also the court must be assured that their opinion is based on sound research and theoretical basis. There is a great danger in a social scientist "attempting to palm off on a court as solid conclusions opinions that are not based on verifiable data" (Maslow 1960: 245). Not only would this be damaging to the law if a case was decided on faulty opinion, but the anthropologist would be properly discredited in the legal community and by his peers once the evidence was made public.

The problem is one of degrees. Courts, by the nature of the legal system, must make an absolute finding of fact. It tends to be almost, but not quite, black and white. Social science findings, on the other hand, are various shades of grey. The degree of reliability of social science findings varies from one study to another and from one method to the next. Social science findings are less reliable than those of the biological sciences, and considerably less reliable than the findings of the physical sciences. Social science fundings also apply to an average situation and not to every. similar situation (Rose 1955). Social scientists know this. Their task, when acting as an expert witness, is to explain this to a court which applies rules for the acceptance of opinion evidence which have been developed by reference to experts in the physical sciences. Steward summarised this concern (1955: 299):,

The "truth" is not a matter of whether some physical or biological event did or did not occur, as whether a person died of poisoning or whether a document was written by a certain individual. As pointed out previously, the fact that Indian groups are culturally distinctive makes it extraodinarily difficult to know exactly what must be proved about each in order to meet minimum requirements of a mecessarily standard and unvarying law. As an expert, therefore, the witness must do more than

present primary physical or social facts and then interpret them with reference to whether or not the nature of the Indian group meets the requirements of the Claims legislation. . .

The witness, as a competent anthropologist, must make a conscientious effort to present his case in a manner that meets the requirements of science. Also, he must phrase his problem so that his conclusions will be as relevant as possible to the basic issues of the litigation. . . . Finally, the anthropologist should set forth with all possible clarity his theoretical presuppositions and methodological procedures and relate his selection, appraisal, and interpretation of evidence to them. The anthropologist must first be confident that his opinion is based on competent research, or by clearly stating which evidence presented at trial has been accepted by himself as the basis of his opinion. He must also explain the relevance of the theoretical basis of his opinion, and that this theory is one accepted by the discipline. This should satisfy the issue of presenting the truth for both the

witness and the court.

7

D. Anthropological Interpretaion

Although the focus of this thesis is to examine the problems faced by anthropologists who must give evidence in court pursuant to the strict requirements of the rules of

129

evidence, it must be emphasised that anthropologists have always been concerned with the accuracy and quality of the academic statements they make.

Anthropologists have compiled ethnographies, analysed culture change and studied institutions and relationships in accordance with a number of theoretical models. These models have been developed, adopted and rejected throughout the relatively brief history of the discipline. Some theoretical models and methods have gradually developed being passed from "founder" to his students, and to his students' students. Others have been presented as a new theory and then been the subject of harsh public debates.

The origin of anthropology has been crediited to Plato and Aristotle (Evans-Pritchard 1981), to Herodotus (Myres 1974) or to the period of Enlightenment the time of John Locke and Adam Smith (Harris 1968; Evans-Pritchard 1968). Generally the first scentific or systematc study recognized as anthropology s that of Lewis Henry Morgan (Meggers 1946; Voget 1960). Morgan, a so-called cultural evolutionist, systematically studied the Iroquois of New York State. His most important work was his attempt to classify all world cultures on a hierarchical or evolutionary scale.

Shortly after this theoretical development Boas and his students, using the approach known as historicism, dominated American anthropology (Meggers 1946). In this approach, also called "scientific history", the anthropologist looked at an antecedent cultural fact as the best explanation of a succeeding fact. Within the focus of specific cultures, cultural growth was explained by diffusion, adaptation and interaction, rather than by independent origin and parallelism (Voget 1960). This was followed by the functionalist approach of Malinowski who saw every trait as having a function within the cultural context.

Radcliff-Brown further developed a structural-functionalist theory which compared societies to study the maintenance operations that functioned to sustain the structural whole of the society. Many other theories were developed including culture and personality, acculturation studies, configuration theory, environmental determination and French structuralism (Garbarino 1977).

There arose from this conflicts between anthropologists who studied the same, or similar, cultures using different theoretical orientations or methodologies. There also was at times a tendency to denounce old theories with the development of new ones. This also led to conflicts. Some of these academic disputes over the correct interpretation of a society or culture were long lasting and very utlic, with opposing critical papers appearing in the journals or books.

The evolutionists have been criticised often (Radcliffe-Brown 1947, 1949; Lowie 1946; Bidney 1946) and alternately defended (White 1945). The British social anthropologists have been put down for having too narrow a scope of study (Murdock 1951) and have defended themselves (Radcliffe-Brown 1935). Research findings have varied by anthropologists who studied in the same village (Lewis 1951; Redfield 1956; Goldkind 1965; and Blackman 1983; Stearns 1981).

These differences in theory and method, and the disputes over different aproaches may appear as confusion or as making invalid the "scientific" nature of anthropological work. On the contrary this adds to the development of the discipline and the greater understanding of culture by the different viewpoints. Meggers concluded that it "is a good thing for a science to survey its works critically from time to time. When we look back over the path by which anthropology has come to 1945 we can see that it is not straight, but crooked and branching" (1946: 195). This makes the discipline and the work stronger. Differences in opinion' between academics is well recognized within any discipline and also by the courts that hear them as experts.

E. The Role of the Discipline of Anthropology

The role of being an expert witness is one occupied by an individual anthropologist for a short period of time and for a specific purpose. The witness is qualified on his own behalf and gives evidence of his own opinion based on research and reading. Although the witness is an individual giving his own personal opinion, the legal system does not see him as such. He is to the court not Dr. X, but "an anthropologist". He gives not "an individual's" opinion, but that of "an anthropologist". The expert, in other words, is

а Эв 9 more a human representative of a discipline, rather than an ---individual participant in the proceedings. The people in the legal system are trained to think in these terms. It is not Mr. Justice X who makes a decision, but it is the Court of Queen's Bench, the judge being the human_agent. Likewise it is not defence counsel who makes an application, it is the accused; not the prosecutor, but Queen Elizabeth II.

In this light the discipline of anthropology has a role to play in regards to the use of expert witnesses. This role should be in two areas. First, the discipline could have a role in deciding who is an expert. Second, the discipline should have a duty to establish and sanction a code of professional ethics for those members who actively engage in activities that can permanently change the course of other people's lives.

The court must establish that a witness is an expert in order for the witness to give opinion evidence. The laws of evidence which apply were discussed in Chapter 2. These rules were developed by the courts and are applicable to all scientific disciplines. They were developed without consideration of the individual variation in research techniques, reliability of results and without input from the professions considered. These rules of qualification may be relied on by witnesses. It has been suggested that there may be a danger that some social scientists, once they are qualified as an expert by a court, abandon their professional standards and freely give their personal

opinions to the court (Cahn 1956). It would seem unlikely that this would be a frequent occurrence.

At present, the discipline of anthropology does not have direct access to suggest legal changes in the qualification of court experts. It can be demonstrated, however, through literature / conferences, and the process of individually gualifying experts at trials that there are special considerations that may exist. Steward (1955) has said that a long-established reputation in anthropology or extended experience among a group of Indians does not necessarily imply that a person will be competent as an expert witness. /With an appropriate sense of problem and an adequate methodology, a young man is just as capable as his more elderly/colleague of ransacking historical documents for relevant information and reaching valid conclusions" (Steward 1955: 301). Other factors such as a prolonged residence among or association with a group, without a conscious effort to understand them based on historical knowledge or a theoretical framework, likewise does not result in a person being an expert. A change in a field of specialization, or a familiarity with a group other than the one which is the subject matter of the litigation also does not by itself determine that a person is not an expert. All of these points were illustrated in the case R. v. Tenale (1982) which found the anthropologist qualified as an expert because of his research techniques, study of a comparable group and application of theoretical framework, despite his

change in specialization, relative youth and unfamiliarity with the group on trial.

135

The discipline of anthropology by awarding graduate degrees at universities gives a paper qualification that is acceptable to courts. Journals by publication of papers contribute in a like manner. There is no uniform method, or body with the authority to define either specialization or competence of anthropologists. The application of the term expert is one that cannot be definitively awarded by the discipline, but its members, through consistant work of acceptable quality, can demonstrate to the courts what types of qualities an anthropological expert should possess.

The discipline does have a concern for the professional responsibility of its members. The Society for Applied Anthropology in Canada has a committee which is working on a paper to outline the ethical guidelines for applied anthropologists. They are making recommendations for the conduct of research, the dissemination of knowledge, relations with students, and relations with the public. Anthropologists and lawyers have also noted that the role of professionals must be determined by their own disciplines (Rosen 1977; Friedman 1909-10). Rosen (1977) believes that anthropological associations should formulate standards to guide those acting as expert witnesses. These standards should be recommendations not requirements, and be without sanctions of any sort.
Two main issues that may be addressed by such guidelines are what is the primary function of providing anthropological evidence, and what obligation should there be on the anthropologist to publish his finding. Redfield said that the social sciences are scientific in that they 4 are concerned with telling "What Is, not What Ought to Be", and because they "exercise objectivity, pursue special knowledge, and move towards systematic formulation of this knowledge" (1966: 191). He held that social science has social uses which include the guiding of decisions in the management of human affairs, and in the testing and development of social values. There is a moral obligation on social scientists to ensure that their own moral values and . biases do not interfere with their scientific study of society. This objectivity may be strained when expert witnesses are motivated to help a side win a case. Ethical guidelines, while not being capable of eliminating this problem, could give a witness a guideline to follow in presenting his material in court.

The obligation or the right of the anthropologist to publish research conducted for the purpose of litigation is an issue that should receive some guidance from the discipline. The Society for Applied Anthropology in Canada (1984) has suggested that anthropologists should not consent to employment from which the data would remain permanently confidential. The Society does recognize the need for confidentiality during immediate periods of the project. Ð

This would be especially important in litigation for a period that extended to the expirary date of the last possible appeal. The privacy of individuals and groups must also be protected.

Jones (1955) advocated that anthropologists who appear as witnesses should publish their research undertaken for the case. His opinion was in the context of experts appearing before commissions when they have not necessarily taken one side or the other, but most often appear as neutral experts called by the investigating body. In this situation publication would not breach any confidence. Wolfgang (1974) discussed the obligation of an expert who is called by one party in litigation to publish his research results. He stated that he would publish results if they were contrary to the case of his employer and he was not therefore used as a witness. He did not discuss whether he would wait until they would not appear and be potentially utilized by opposing counsel against his employer on an appeal. He did however state that he would so publish even knowing they would be used in similar litigation against other litigants in the position of his employer. Because his research supported his employer he was not required to actually take this step. The position he took appears to be that it is more important to share good research with the community of anthropologists, than to suppress information in the interests of one litigant. This is a difficult dilemma which should receive guidance from the discipline.

F. Conclusion

There are potential dangers to anthropology in the possibility of increased use of anthropologists as expert witnesses. Some of these have been discussed, such as the motivation for acting, the temptation to conduct biased research, the congern that lawyers force experts to omit knowledge detremental to the case, the concern over what is the truth and the desire for standardized professional responsibility. These issues primarily concern individuals who are acting as experts. That is they are concerns of how an expert should react to his employment as an expert, how he must relate to the court situation, and whether he must act in a manner as dictated by the court or in one consistant with the actions of other anthropologists.

An issue which may be of greater concern to the discipline as a whole than to its individual members is the possibility of anthropologists becoming advocates. Other professions, most noteably medical specialists, have experts who act solely for one type of litigant and never for the other. As an articling student the author was given a list of doctors to employ if our client was a plaintiff, and a second list if our client was a defendant. If cases using anthropological evidence start to call experts on both sides on a regular basis the potential exists for such a division among members of this discipline.

Of course legitimate differences of interpretation and a variance in acceptance of theoretical models exists among anthropologists (Rosen 1977). Such differences, can be reasonably explained. It is unlikely however that opposing sides to a case would always find such naturally occuring academic variance by chance. What could happen is opposing "camps" of experts being informally trained through repeated use as experts for one side or the other in cases involving Indians and the government. Many anthropologists are naturally biased in favour of Indians and would prefer to represent the side of a case supporting the Indian's position. Such a bias is evident in a discussion by Manners (1956: 73):

. . I was present at the meetings of the American Ethnological Society . . . when one of the persons . . . asserted categorically that the Justice Department was reduced for the most part to a reliance on young graduate students and otherwise unproved anthropological researchers because reputable anthropologists with experience and detailed knowledge of particular Indian groups could not be prevailed upon to accept "employment against" the Indians

In any case, such was the climate of opinion at these meetings that the speaker was roundly applauded for the forthright defense of ethical anthropologists and the unflattering allusions to those who were apparently unethical enough to accept an assignment with the Justice Department. And such

was the general feeling about the matter that no one there (including the present writer) considered that it would be appropriate to defend those working "against" the Indians.

The general feeling, as Manners states, is that right-thinking people must properly assist Indians because of all the past wrongs committed against them. Giving expert evidence for a side opposite to Indian claims is construed as acting against them. Clearly there is a strong bias here. This indicates that at least these anthropologists believe they are acting for, or assisting the Indians advance their legal claims. This is being an advocate, not a scientist.

Lawyers having been trained in the use of precedent and relying on repeating actions in a consistant manner, often will employ a person who has previously given evidence on an issue as an expert in subsequent cases. Anthropologists who act as experts for Indians soon become known in the trial lawyer network and will likely be employed in a similar capacity in future trials. Once the Crown starts to use anthropologists as experts in opposition to the Indian's experts, a second group may be created. This division into Indian and Crown experts could be accentuated by the reluctance of lawyers and clients to employ some one who has once represented "the other side". Such people are sometimes perceived as unreliable, turncoats, or motivated by reasons other than the desire to help. The fact that such a person may be providing unbiased research may be overlooked.

If this resulted the discipline of afthropology could suffer by being split, into two biased camps, or by having the appearance of having such a split. Steward addressed ? this when he stated (1955: 302):

If anthropology is to maintain a scientific standing in these cases it must recognize that it would be truly embarrassing were persons holding identical theoretical views to interpret the same body of evidence in opposite ways because they happen to be wimesses for opposing sides in a particular case. Sympathy for the Indians or the taxpayer, monetary considerations, and other factors perhaps subtly influence the witness, but I would like to think that they are insignificant, that the cynical statement made to me by one of the lawyers for a Plaintiff that "of course witnesses suppressed, twisted, and misinterpreted evidence in order to win their cases" is not true. . . . What is crucially important is that the failure to clarify reasons for disagreement between witnesses--and in ____ some cases to show that there is really very little disagreement--discredits Anthropology as a science; confuses anthropologists themselves, and must certainly leave the Commission in great doubt as to what the truth is.

At present this problem does not exist in Canada. A large portion of the anthropological expert evidence that is

given is presented to Commissions or Boards of Inquiry which do not follow the law of evidence, and which are not conducted on an advesarial system. Anthropologists can present their evidence in such instances in a scientific manner, without accusation of bias. It is the court situation with the rules of evidence and the requirement for taking sides that presents the major danger. This however can be overcome. The law permits the appointment of court experts, who give evidence on the scientific issues without reference to either side. Both sides have the right to cross-examination thereby putting the evidence to the closest scruteny. It has been suggested that most disputes could be settled more easily if experts could discuss and share information rather than acting as antagonists (Laurie 1955). Such sharing of information is done in the normal course of academic research, and if information was presented to the court by one expert, it would leave the resolution of the issue to its proper authority--the court.

There is provision in the law for court appointed experts, and precedent for their use. Their use would not replace the right of both parties to the use of experts, but would add a neutral expert, balance expert evidence when only one party produced one, or provide an expert when neither party called such evidence. A lobby by anthropological associations of the courts, law societies and governments could encourage the use of experts in this manner and reduce or eliminate a potential split in the



VI. CONCLUSION

This thesis attempts to contribute to two disciplines, and within each to advance the discipline of anthropology.

For the discipline of anthropology, this is a study of another discipline that is normally closed to outsiders--the legal system. It does not study the whole system, but selectively looks at that part of the legal system which uses anthropological knowledge--the courts. By examining the use of anthropologist expert witnesses in court one can understand not only the court's development of knowledge in an area external to law and how this external knowledge is incorporated into legal reasoning, but what impact anthropology can have on this other discipline.

The first part of the thesis demonstrates legal concepts, the legal system of knowledge which is bounded by statute and precedent, and rules of evidence that can allow external knowledge to influence the law. This is presented to give anthropologists an understanding of how they can fit into the trial process and what the limits of their contribution are. While an anthropologist's contribution is limited by the questions he is asked, the contribution of anthropology is unlimited in its potential value.

This is an anthropological study of a part of the legal system in order to gain a better understanding of anthropology's contribution to knowledge.

To the discipline of law this thesis provides an understanding of a source of knowledge that is not used to its fullest possible extent. It shows that some law making decisions are based on arbatrary rules set down without consideration of social and cultural factows. The legal profession is only recently beginning to become aware of the importance of social considerations. Anthropologists can assist in this awareness.

The use of social scientists as experts, however, is sadly underdeveloped in Canada. There are very few reported cases, and it is easy to speculate very few unreported ones as well, that use anthropologists as experts. Many of those cases which did employ anthropologists appear not to have utilized the expert to the fullest extent that may have been possible.

It is the responsibility of the lawyers to decide if they need or could use anthropological evidence. They make this decision based on their legal knowledge and experience. This knowledge and experience, however, rarely included an idea of the usefullness of anthropological expert evidence. This applies to lawyers representing Indians, and members of other ethnic and social groups, and to the lawyers representing the opposing parties.

2 1 1

> There are no legal or academic reasons why social science evidence should not be greatly increased in use. The cases show that such evidence is needed and should be used more often.

Anthropologists could make lawyers aware of their availability and usefulness as experts. This could be done by attending legal conferences and presenting papers on their participation in cases, by joining professional associations that includes lawyers and ethnic groups, and by publishing papers of their experience as experts in legal journals. While it would not appear to be judicious to take out advertisements offering services as experts, it would be useful to create an awareness of the usefulness of such assistance.

Anthropologists hired to act must ensure that they have no personal conflict with the position of the side that hires them. They will be asked to give only that evidence which supports their client and must be able to do so with a free conscience that it is the best evidence they can give.

While supporting the value of anthropologists as experts, both anthropologists and lawyers should be careful that such experts do not replace or overshadow the value of natives as "experts". Native witnesses should be used with anthropologists as a team to give the most complete evidence possible.

Anthropologists acting as witnesses should make themselves as familiar with the case as possible and utilize all sources to do this. Although the lawyer may be unwilling or too busy to encourage full participation, it should be sought. The witness should ensure that they are fully briefed in the terminology they should use, the types of questions they will be asked, what supporting materials and aids they are expected to bring and their expected participation with the other witnesses.

groups.

With an increase in the use of anthropologists as experts the time should come when the two disciplines of anthropology and law can be utilized as a team to obtain the best possible future for Canadians of all ethnic and social

Books and periodicals

Adams, Richard Newbold 1977 The Problem of Unity and Diversity in Anthropology. American Anthropologist. 79: 263-264.

Allport, Floyd H. et al. 1952-53 The Effects of Segregation and the Consequences of Desegregation: A Social Science Statement. Minnesota Law Review . 37:427-439.

Ball, William B. 1960 Lawyers and Social Scientists, -Guiding the Guides. Villanova Law Review. 5:215-223.

Beuscher, J.H. 1941 The Use of Experts by the Courts. Harvard Law Review. 54:1105-1127.

Bidney, David 1946 On the

On the So-called Anti-evolutionist Fallacy: A Reply to Leslie A. White. American Anthropologist 48: 293-297.

Blackman, Margaret B. 1983 The Haida a View from 1966. Reviews in Anthropology Summer: 55-63.

Brown, Dougald

1981 Indian Hunting Rights and Provincial Law: Some Recent Developments. University of Toronto Faculty of Law Review 39: 121-132.

Cahn, Edmond 1956 Jurisprudence. New York University Law Review. 31: 182-195.

Catalano, Ralph, Stephen J. Simmons and Daniel Stokols 1975 Adding Social Science Knowledge to Environmentall Decision Making. Natural Resources Lawyer.

8:41-59. 11 Clark, Kenneth B. The Social Scientist as an Expert Witness in 1953 Civil Rights Litigation. Social Problems. 1(1):5-10. Clark, Kenneth B. The Desegregation Cases: Criticism of the Social 1960 Scientist's Role. Villanova Law Review. 5:224-240. Clendenning, J.L. 1966-67 Expert Testimony. Criminal Law Quarterly. 9:415-434. Conrad, Edwin C. The Expert and Legal Certainty. Journal of 1964 Forensic Sciences. 9:445-455. Cranston, Ross 1973-74 The Aborigines and the Law: An Overview. University of Queensland Law Journal. 8:60-78. Craven, J. Braxton The Impact of Social Science Evidence on the 1975 Judge: A Personal Comment. Law and Contemporary *Problems* . 39:150-156. Dobyns, Henry F. Taking the Witness Stand. in Elizabeth M. Eddy 1978 and William L. Partridge eds. Applied Anthropology in America. New York: Columbia University Press, Pp. 261-274. Elkin, A.P. Aboriginal Evidence and Justice in North 1947 Australia. Oceania. 17:173-210. Evans-Pritchard, E.E. A History of Anthropological Thought. London: 1981 Faber and Faber.

149

1968

Social Anthropology: Past and Present. in Robert

A. Manners and David Kaplan eds. Theory in Anthropology Chicago: Aldine Publishing Co. Pp. 46-54.

Freeman, Milton M.R.

1977

Anthropologists and Policy-Relevant Research The Case for Accountability. in Applied Anthropology in Canada. Proceedings No. 4 Canadian Ethnology Society, Pp. 139-166.

Friedman, Lee M. 1909-10 Expert Testimony, Its Abuse and Reform. Yale Law Journal. 19:247-257.

Garbarino, Merwyn S. 1977 Sociocultural Theory in Anthropology A Short History. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.

Garfinkel, Herbert 1959 Social Science

Social Science Evidence and the School Segregation Cases. Journal of Politics. 21:37-59.

Goldkind, Victor 1965 Social

Social stratification in the Peasant Community: • Redfield's Chan Kom Reinterpreted. American Anthropologist 67: 863-884.

Gormley, Donald C. 1955 The Role of the Expert Witness. Ethnohistory. 2:326-346.

Greenberg, Jack 1955-56 Social Scientists Take the Stand: A Review and Appraisal of Their Testimony in Litigation. Michigan Law Review. 54:953-970.

Griffin, F. Hastings 1960-61 Impartial Medical Testimony: A Trial Lawyer in Favour. Temple Law Quarterly. 34:402-415.

Guttmacher, Manfred S. 1960-61 Problems Faced by the Impartiaal Expert Witness in Court: The American View. Temple Law Quarterly. 34:369-377. Hand, Learned

1901-02 Historical and Practical Considerations Regarding Expert Testimony. Harvard Law Review. 15:40-58.

Harris, Marvin

1968 The Rise of Anthropological Theory. New York: Harper & Row.

Holmes, Grace W. ed.

1973 Experts in Litigation. Ann Arbor:Institute of Continuing Legal Education.

Jones, J.A.

1955 Problems, Opportunities and Recommendations. Ethnohistory. 2:347-356.

Keeton, George W. 1943 Harris's Hints on Advocacy. London: Stevens & Sons Limited.

Kiralfy, A.K.R. 1958 Potter's Outline of English Legal History. 5th ed. London: Sweet & Maxwell Limited.

Kriewaldt, Martin Chemnitz 1960-62 The Application of the Criminal Law to the Aborigines of the Northern Territory of Australia. Universty of Western Australia Law Review. 5:1-50.

Law Reform Commission of Canada 1975 Report on Evidence Ottawa:Information Canada.

Law Reform Commission of Canada. Evidence Project 1973 Opinion and Expert Evidence. Ottawa; Information Canada.

Law Society of Upper Canada

1972 Proceedings of the Programme on Criminal Law Expert Evidence. Toronto:Osgoode Hall Department of Continuing Education.



Lawson, Robert G. 1970 Experimental Research on the Organization of Persuasive Arguments: An Application To Courtroom Communications. Law and the Social Order. 1970:579-608.

Levin, Henry M.

Education, Life Chances, and the Courts: The Role of Social Science Evidence. Law and Contemporary Problems. 39:217-240.

Lewis, Oscar

1981

1973

1975

6.3

1951 *Life in a Mexican Village: Tepoztlan restudied.* Urbana: University of Illinois Press.

Liberman, Kenneth

Understanding Aborigines in Australlian Courts of Law. Human Organization. 40:247-255.

Lochner, Philip R.

Some Limits on the Application of Social Science Research in the Legal Process. Law and the Social Order. 1973:815-848.

Louisell, David W. 1955 The Psychologist

The Psychologist in Today's Legal World. Minnesota Law Review. 39:235-258.

Lowie, Robert H.

1946 Evolution in Cultural Anthropology: A reply to Leslie White. American Anthropologist 48: 223-233.

2

Lurie, Nancy Oestreich 1955 Problems, Opportunities and Recommendations. Ethnohistory. 2:357-375.

Malcolm, Andrew I.

1972

1979 The Use and Abuse of the Psychiatric Witness. *Prov incial Judges Journal*, 3(1):9-12,28.

Maloney, Arthur and Paul V. Tomlinson

Opinion Evidence. in Roger E. Salhany and Robert J. Carter eds. Studies in Canadian Criminal Evidence. Toronto: Butterworths, Pp. 219-246. Manners, Robert A. The Land Claims Cases: Anthropologists in 1956 Conflict. Ethnohistory. 3:72-81.

Maslow, Will How Social Scientists Can Shape Legal Processes. 1960 Villanova Law Review. 5:241-246.

McCalla, Winston Expert Evidence. Advocates' Quarterly. 3:74-84. 1981

McCracken, Daniel D. Public Policy & The Expert: Ethical Problems of 1971 the Witness. New York: Council on Religion and International Affairs.

McDonald, Q.C. Opinion Evidence. Osgoode Hall Law Journal. 1978 16:321-336.

McGurk, Frank C.J. The Law, Social Science and Academic Freedom--A 1960 Psychologist's View. Villanova Law Review. 5:247-254.

McMillan, James B. Social Science and the District Court: The 1975 Observations of a Journeyman Trial Judge. Law and Contemporary Problems. 39:157-163.

McWilliams, Peter K. Canadian Criminal Evidence. Agincourt: Canada Law 1974 Book Limited.

Meggers, Betty J. Recent Trends in American Ethnology. American 1946 Anthropologist 48: 176-214.

Murdock, George Peter 4 British Social Anthropology. American 1951 Anthropologist 53: 465-473.

Myres, J.L.

Herodotus and Anthropology. in Ashley Montagu ed. 1974

Frontiers of Anthropology. New York: Putnam's Sons. Pp. 21-46.

Napley, David

1975 The Techniques of Persuasion. London: Sweet & Maxwell.

Neate, Grraeme J.

1981 Legal Language Across Cultures: Finding the Traditional Aboriginal Owners of Land. Federal Law Review. 12:187-211.

Nejelski, Paul

1976

Social Research in Conflict with Law and Ethics. Cambridge, Mass.:Ballinger Publishing Company.

O'Hoski, John J.

. 1976-77 The Use of Psychiatric Evidence as to the Credibility of Witnesses in Criminal Trials. Queen's Law Journal. 3:40-70.

Patenaude, Pierre

1983 De la recevabilite des preuves fondees sur des techniques non consacrees par la communaute scientifique. *Revue de Barreau*. 43:51-60.

Phillips, K. A.

1977

The "Nuts and Bolts" of Testifying as a Forensic Scientist. *Journal of Forensic Sciences*. 22:457-463.

Posluns, Donald

1981 An Introduction to Psychological Expert Testimony. Advocates' Quarterly. 3:1-17.

Radcliffe-Brown, A.R.

1935 On the Concept of Function in Social Science. American Anthropologist 37: 394-402.

1947 Evolution, Social or Cultural? American Anthropologist 49: 78-83.

1949 White's view of a Science of Culture. American Anthropologist 51: 503-512. Rainof, Alexandre

1980

How best to use an interpreter in court. California State Bar Journal. 55:196-200.

Redfield, Robert

1963 The Social Uses of Social Science. in Margaret Park Redfield ed. The Social Uses of Social Science: The Papers of Robert Redfield. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. Pp. 191-198.

1956 The Little Community and Peasant Society and Culture. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Rose, Arnold M. 1954 The Social Responsibility of the Social Scientist. Social Problems. 3(1):85-90.

Rose, Arnold M.

1955 The Social Scientist as an Expert Witness. Minnesota Law Review. 40:205-218.

Rosen; Lawrence

1977 The Anthropologist as Expert Witness. American Anthropologist. 79:555-578.

Sopinka, John and Sidney N. Lederman 1974 The Law of Evidence in Civil Cases. Toronto:Butterworths.

Stearns, Mary Lee 1981 Culture in Custody the Massat Haida. Seattle: University of Washington Press.

Stenning, Philip C. 1969 Expert Evidence--The hearsay rule and the "ultimate issue" doctrine. Criminal Reports New Series. 9:181-201.

Steward, Julian H. 1955 Theory and Application in a Social Science. Ethnohistory. 2:292-302.

Tanton, R. L. 1979 Jury Preconceptions and Their Effect on Expert

.

Scientific Testimony. Journal of Forensic Sciences. 24:681-691.

Van Den Haag, Ernest 1960-61 Social Science Testimony in the Desegnegation Cases--A Reply to Professor Kenneth Crark. Villanova Law Review. 6:69-79.

Van Dusen, Francis L. 1960-61 The Impartial Medical Expert System: The Judicial Point of View. Temple Law Quarterly. 34:386-395.

Voget, Fred W.

1960

O.

Man and Culture: An Essay in Changing Anthropological Interpretation. American Anthropologist 62: 947-965.

White, Leslie A.

1945 "Diffusion vs. Evolution": An Anti-evolutionist Fallacy. American Anthropologist 47: 339-356.

Wisdom, John Minor

1975 Random Remarks on the Role of Social Sciences inthe Judicial Decision-Making Process in School Desegregation Cases. Law and Contemporary. Problems. 39:134-149.

Wrottesley, Frederic John 1910 The Examination of Witnesses in Court. London: Sweet & Maxwell.

Wolf, Eleanor P.,

1976 Social Science and the Courts: The Detroit Schools Case. Public Interest. 42:102-120.

Wolfgang, Marvin E.

1974 The Social Scientist in Court.-Journal of Criminal Law & Criminology. 65: 239-247.

Woodsworth, K.C.

1978 Recent Developments in the Law of Evidence. Vancouver:Continuing Legal Education Society of B.C.

157

Wurm, S.A. 1963-64 Aboriginal Languages and the Law. University of Western Australia Law Journal. 6:1-10.* Yerke, Fredric A. 1980 Expert witnesses and environmental proceedings. Trial Diplomacy Journal. 3(2):16-23.

Cases

Aluminum Goods Lt. v. Registrar of Trade Marks [1954] Ex CR 79.

Baker Lake et al. v. Minister of Indian Affairs and Northers Development et al [1980] 5 WWR 193 (FCTD).

Bleta v. The Queen [1964] SCR 561, ¥4 CR 193, [1965] 1 CCC 1, 48 DLR (2d) 139.

Brown v. Board of Education 347 US 483 (1954).

Brownell v. Black (1890), 31 NBR 594.

Brownlee v. Hand Fireworks Co. [1931] 1 DLR 127, 65 OLR 646 (Ont CA).

Burkley v. Thomas (1554) 1 Plowd 122.

Buttram . Udell (1925), 57 OLR 97, [1925] 3 DLR 45 (CA).

Calder et al. Attorney General of British Columbia [1973] SCR 313, [1973] 4 WWR 1, 34 DLR (2d) 145.

City of Saint John v. Irving Oil Co. Ltd. [1966] SCR 581, 58 DLR (2d) 404.

Connolly v. Woolrich and Johnson et al. (1867) 11 Lower Can Jurist 197.3 Can LJ 14, affd 1 Lower Can JL 253, 1 Rev Leg 253 (CA)

Direct Winters Transport Ltd. v. Duplate Canada Ltd. (1962), 32 DLR (2d) 278, [1962] OR 360 (HC).

Dominion Trust Co. v. New York Life Ins. Co. [1919] AC 254.

Fagnan v. Ure [1958] SCR 377.

Folkes v. Chadd (1782) 3 Dougl 157, 99 ER 589.

Kruger and Manuel v. The Queen [1977] 4 WWR 300 (SCC). Kaur v. Ginder, Ginder v. Kor (1958) 13 DLR (2d) 465 (BCSC). Lacroix v. National Capitala Commission (1979), 18 LCR (FCTD). MacMillan Bloedel Ltd. v. Pan Ocean Bulk Carriers Ltd. [1981] 2 FC 773, 121 DLR (3d) 244 (TD). Montgomerie & Co. v. Wallace-James [1904] AC 73. R. v. Anderson (1914), 22 CCC 455 (Alta SC). R. v. Brodie (1962), 132 CCC 161 (SCC). R. v. Davies [1962] 3 All ER 97. R. v. De Tonnancourt, Paquin and Ferragne (1955), 17 WWR 26 (Man QB). R. v. Dennis and Dennis (1974), 22 CCC (2d) 152 (BC PC). R. v. Dick (1982), 41 BCLR 173 (CA). R. V. Fisher (1961), 130 CCC 1, [1961] SCR 535, 34 CR 320. T1961] OWN 94 (SCC). R. v. German (1947), 89 CCC 90, [1947] 4 DLR 68, [1947] OR 395, 3 CR 516 (CA). R. v. Graat (1981), 116, DLR (3d) 143, 30 OR (2d) 247, 55 CCC (2d) 429, 17 CR (3d) 55 (CA). R. v. Great West News Ltd. (1970), 4 CCC (2d) 307 (Man CA). R. v. Gunniss (1964), 44 CR 262 (BC Co Ct). R. v. Haines [1980] 5 WWR 421, appeal, dismissed [1981] 6 WWR 664 (BCCA). R. v. Jack and Charlie Feb. 14, 1980, unreported BC County Court. R. v. Jack and Charlie (1980), 50 CCC (2d) 337 (BCPC). R. v. Jack and Charlie [1982] 5 WWR 3 (BCCA). R. v. Lupien (1969), 9 CRNS 165 (SCC). R. v. Marks [1952] OWN 608, 15 CR 47, 103 CCC 368 (Ont Co Ct).

20

R. v. Morgentaler (No. 2) (1973), 42 DLR (3d) 439, 14 CCC (2d) 450 (Que QB). R. v. Neil [1957] SCR 685, 26 CR 281, 11 DLR (2d) 545 CCC 1 (SCC).R. v. Pipeline News (1971), 5 CCC (2d) 71 (Alta DC). R. v. Prairie Schooner News (1970), 1 CCC (2d) 251 (Man CA). R. v. Silverlock [1894] 2 QB 766. R. v. Tenale et al. (1982), 66 CCC (2d) 180 (BC Co Ct). R. v. Tenale et al. (1982), 42 BCLR 91 (CA). R. v. Times Square Cinema Ltd. (1971), 4 CCC (2d) 229 (Ont CA). Regina ex rel. Taggart v. Forage (1968), 3 CRNS 117 (Ont SC). Rice v. Sockett (1912), 8 DLR 84, 27 OLR 410 (Div Ct). Scragg & Sons Ltd. v. Leesona Corp. [1946] Ex CR 649, 26 Fox Pat C 1, 45 CPR 1. Spruceside Construction Ltd. v. City of Hamilton (1975), 9 LCR 128. Village of Kelliher v. Smith [1931] SCR 672, [1931] 4 DLR 102 (SCC). Workmen's Compensation Board v. Greer (1973), 42 DLR (3d) 595 (SCC).

Statutes

The Alberta Evidence Act, RSA 1980, c. A-21.

Alberta Natural Resources Act, 1930 (Can.), c. 3; 1930 (Alta.), c. 21.

Alberta Rules of Court, Alberta Regulation 390/68. Canada Evidence Act, RSC 1970, c. E-10. The Evidence Act, RSM 1970, c. E150. The Evidence Act, RSNB 1973, c. E-11. The Evidence Act, RSO 1980, c. C-145. Fisheries Act, RSC 1970, c. F-.

Indian Act, RSC 1970, c. I-6.

Manitoba. The Queen's Bench Rules. regulation under The Queen's Bench Act, RSM 1970, c. 280, s. 103. (

160

Manitoba Natural Resources Act, 1930 (Can.), c. 29; 1930 (Man.), c. 30.

Migratory Birds Act, RSC 1970, c. M-19.

Nova Scotia. Civil Proceedure Rules. regulaton under The Judicature Act, 1972 (Nova Scotia), c. 2, ss. 42-46.

Ontario. Rules of Court. Holmstead & Gale on The Judicature Act of Ontario and Rules of Practice. Vol. 2. 1983.

The Saskatchewan Evidence Act, RSS 1978, c. S-16.

1.⁴

.

Saskatchewan Natural Resources Act, 1930 (Can.), c. 41; 1930 . (Sask.), c. 87.

Royal Proclamation, 1763. RSC 1970, Appendix II: 123-129.